

Early Cultural and Historical Seascape of the Pacific Remote Islands Marine National Monument

Archival and Literary Research Report

Jesi Quan Bautista Savannah Smith

Honolulu, Hawai'i 2018



Early Cultural and Historical Seascape of the Pacific Remote Islands Marine National Monument

Archival and Literary Research Report

Jesi Quan Bautista Savannah Smith

Honolulu, Hawai'i 2018



For additional information, please contact Malia Chow at malia.chow@noaa.gov.

This document may be referenced as

Pacific Islands Regional Office [PIRO]. 2019. Early Cultural & Historical Seascape of the Pacific Remote Islands Marine National Monument. NOAA Fisheries Pacific Islands Fisheries Science Center, PIRO Special Publication, SP-19-005, 57 p. doi:10.25923/fb5w-jw23

Table of Contents

Preface	1
Use as a Reference Tool	1
Acknowledgments	1
Cultural-Historical Connectivity Within the Monument	2
WAKE ATOLL ENEEN-KIO	4
JOHNSTON ATOLL KALAMA & CORNWALLIS	7
PALMYRA ATOLL HONUAI	13
KINGMAN REEF NALUKĀKALA	19
HOWLAND ISLAND ULUKOU	21
BAKER ISLAND PUAKAʻILIMA	24
JARVIS ISLAND PAUKEAHO	27
Bibliography	
SOURCES LISTED BY MONUMENT LOCATION	29
SOURCES LISTED IN CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER	45
SOURCES LISTED IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER	48

Preface

The Pacific Remote Islands Marine National Monument (PRIMNM, Monument) is one of four Pacific Marine National Monuments co-managed by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. The Monument was established in 2009 by Presidential Proclamation 8336 and Monument boundaries were expanded around Wake Atoll, Johnston Atoll, and Jarvis Island by Presidential Proclamation 9173 in 2014. Consisting of Wake, Johnston and Palmyra Atolls, Kingman Reef, and Howland, Baker and Jarvis Islands, the PRIMNM is a unique marine protected area because of its remote and widespread distribution across the central Pacific Ocean. Understanding the value and importance of the diverse cultural and historical perspectives of the PRIMNM is a priority focus for Monument managers in developing the PRIMNM management plan. A deeper understanding of the Monument's collective heritage is also an instrumental step to support further research and engage the global audience with this expansive seascape. Through archival and literary research, the cultural resources, historical events, and stories of people's connections and interactions with the Monument area prior to the 20th century have been documented and compiled as a cohesive story.

Use as a Reference Tool

Archival and literary research was conducted at the Hawai'i State Archives, the Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum Archives, the Hamilton Library at University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, and using online archival and newspaper databases. This research highlights the connectivity that weaves the Monument's early cultural seascape, while incorporating individual histories for each location and a comprehensive bibliographic reference. This collective work may be used as a reference tool to inform Monument managers and stakeholders, researchers, educators, and the public. While this report offers comprehensive insight into the heritage of the PRIMNM, it also provides opportunities for deeper exploration and collaborative projects that highlight the biocultural connectivity of the Monument.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude for the supportive partnership between the Kupu Conservation Leadership and Development Program and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Pacific Islands Regional Office (PIRO) to conduct this research. Thank you to those who provided guidance throughout our journey, especially the Marine National Monument Program at PIRO. We would also like to acknowledge the many collection managers who provided access to the holdings at the Hawai'i State Archives, Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum Archives, and the Hawaiian and Pacific Collections at University of Hawai'i at Mānoa. Lastly, we appreciate the dedicated efforts of those who digitize archival material, bringing stories of the past within our reach.

Cultural-Historical Connectivity within the Monument

The Pacific Remote Islands Marine National Monument area is approximately 370,000 square nautical miles (nm²), encompassing seven islands and atolls that share natural histories of geographic isolation, and provide invaluable scientific insight as thriving ecosystems in the open ocean. Similarly, the human histories that connect these remote islands and atolls shape a deeper understanding of the Monument's collective heritage. Exploration and research carried out in the Monument by vessels that traverse the open ocean today, reflect early oceanic voyages and expeditions that occurred before and during the establishment of whaling grounds, trade routes and Pacific Ocean surveying. As more vessels from around the globe frequented central Pacific waters, sightings of these islands and atolls increased, as did their encounters.

Many of the Monument atolls and islands were not continually inhabited, since they were prone to storm and wave damage, rainfall was too small to supply sufficient freshwater, and the land was too dry to grow food crops. However, early Micronesian and Polynesian presence was very likely, as people of Oceania often voyaged to other island societies to obtain resources and exchange localized skills. Marshallese oral tradition reveals that nearby Marshall Islanders visited Wake Atoll, which they named *Eneen-Kio* after the abundant *kio* (orange) flower. Prior to European contact, they endured the long and dangerous voyage to the atoll to obtain the wingbones of large seabirds, which were used in tattooing ceremonies. The *Whippoorwill* Expedition of 1924 mapped and photographed possible archaeological sites on Howland Island that likely indicated early Polynesian presence, based on previous observations by J. D. Hague in 1862, including distinct footpaths and coral shrines. The expedition also found a plank with the carving "Makaiattafofi" and a canoe paddle they believed to be of Tahitian origin, which likely indicated more recent Polynesian presence throughout these remote islands and atolls.

European exploration of the Pacific began with the Spanish and Portuguese in the late 1500s; and by the 1600s, explorers, merchants, and privateers from Holland, France, and England started charting the unknown expanse of the Pacific. Many Pacific islands received multiple place names on various charts, depending on the explorer and nation who sighted it. The British and the French dominated Pacific exploration in the 1700s by sending out scientific expeditions and nearly the entire Pacific basin had been charted by the 1800s. As the Pacific was brought to the attention of the West and whale populations severely declined in the Atlantic, the hunt for whales spread to the Pacific. By the early 1800s, hundreds of whaling ships, mostly from New England, sought out long voyages in the Pacific. Old shipping records and accounts report of whaling grounds around Baker, Howland and Jarvis Islands, and Johnston and Palmyra Atolls.

While whalers and tradesmen often times landed in the remote areas of the Pacific to bury dead seamen or to collect food, mainly seabird eggs and turtle, they discovered guano, or seabird excrement. Beginning in the 1840s, there was a high demand for guano to fertilize overworked agricultural fields in the United States and Europe. This led to the United States Guano Islands Act of 1856 which enabled U.S. citizens to take possession of unclaimed or unoccupied islands with guano deposits, simply by raising the American flag or burying a glass bottle containing a declaration of annexation.

Beginning in the late 1850s, thousands of laborers from throughout the Pacific migrated to the guano islands, including Johnston Atoll and Howland, Baker, and Jarvis Islands. The guano laborers were tasked to dig, bag, and load guano onto various vessels and were noted as exceptional watermen who understood wind patterns, ocean currents and swells. Shipped roughly 2000 miles away from their home to work on the guano islands, Hawaiian guano laborers named Howland, Baker, and Jarvis Islands. They named Howland Island *Ulukou*, which translates to 'kou tree grove,' and Baker Island *Puaka 'ilima*, meaning 'the 'ilima flower.' They named Jarvis Island *Paukeaho*, meaning 'out of breath' or 'exhausted,' which described the workers' experience and working conditions.

In the late 1800s, there was also a growing demand for exotic seabird feathers to supply the millinery, or hat making, industry in Europe and the United States. Remote, uninhabited atolls in the Pacific were particularly sought after as they provided relatively undisturbed breeding grounds for dense seabird populations. Traces of operations for the millinery feather trade were found on Wake and Johnston Atolls by the *Tanager* Expedition of 1924. The two islets of Wake Atoll, Wilkes and Peale, were also named during this expedition, after Lieutenant Charles Wilkes and lead naturalist Titian Peale of the 1841 U.S. Exploring Expedition.

Many historical events that occurred throughout the Pacific are also reflected in the names of the islets at Palmyra. Sawles Point, like most geographic features encountered by Westerners, was named after the captain who first discovered the atoll. Strawn's Island was named for American businessman Clayton Strawn, who managed the island with workers from the Pacific islands curing copra, or the dried meat of coconut, which was primarily harvested for the extraction of coconut oil. During the mid-1800s, Western missionaries and colonists planted thousands of coconut palms on islands and atolls throughout the Pacific to establish coconut plantations. Portsmouth Point was named for the USS *Portsmouth*, which completed one of the first surveys of the atoll in 1873 and Penguin Spit was named after HMS *Penguin*, which surveyed the atoll on behalf of Great Britain in 1897. At this time, Great Britain and the United States were investigating strategic landing points for trans-Pacific telegraphic communication cables.

Following the overthrow of the Kingdom of Hawai'i in 1893 and annexation of Hawai'i by the United States in 1898, interests in these remote locations ebbed and flowed into the next century. However, many atolls throughout the Pacific with a shared history of international commercial exploitation, were subsequently impacted by military operations for World War II.

The following narratives encompass early recorded histories for each Monument location to highlight their distinctive stories. They are each introduced with the significance of their identified Oceania place name, followed by a timeline that begins with early encounters and concludes with events at turn of the twentieth century, before they became strategic positions with onset of World War II.

WAKE ATOLL || ENEEN-KIO

Marshallese oral tradition reveals that early voyagers from the Marshall Islands visited and named the atoll *Eneen-Kio* after the abundant *kio* (orange) flower. Marshallese men undertook the long and dangerous voyage to the atoll to obtain the wingbones of large seabirds. Prior to the discovery of the wingbone on *Eneen-Kio*, ancient rituals demanded human sacrifices to obtain human bones which were used to tattoo chiefs. Fear of being sacrificed was the primary motivation to travel to the atoll and collect the only bone that was an acceptable substitute. However, when Christian missionaries arrived in the mid-1800s and banned human sacrifices, the Marshallese stopped voyaging to the atoll.

Europeans first encountered the atoll on October 2, 1568. Spanish explorer Álvaro de Mendaña named the atoll San Francisco in honor of St. Francis and the atoll was also recorded as Mendana in old navigational charts for the explorer. The two smaller islets can be found in old Spanish charts from the 1700s under Desierta meaning 'desert' and La Mira meaning 'take care'. The atoll was eventually named after British Captain William Wake in 1796. It has been reported as both an island and reef by whalers and recorded under other names, such as Halcyon, Week, Helsion, and Wilson.

The first official visit by Americans took place in 1841 during the United States Exploring Expedition. The atoll's position was fixed at lat 19°10′54″ N, long 166°31′30″ E. While aboard the *Vincennes*, Lieutenant Wilkes (1849, 267-268) described the atoll.

Wake's Island is a low coral one, of triangular form, and eight feet above the surface. It has a large lagoon in the center, which was well filled with fish of a variety of species; among these some fine mullet. There is no fresh water on the island, and neither pandanus nor cocoa-nut trees. It has upon it the shrubs which are usually found on the low islands of the Pacific, the most abundant of which was the Tournefortia. Mr. Peale found here the short-tailed albatross, and procured an egg from its nest. The birds were quite tame, although they were not so numerous as we had before met with on uninhabited islands. [...] From appearances, the island must be at times submerged, or the sea makes a complete breach over it; the appearance of the coral blocks and of all the vegetation leads to this conclusion, for they have a very decided inclination to the eastward, showing also that the violent winds or rush of the water, when the island is covered, are from the westward. The reef around the island is very small in extent.

The German ship, *Libelle*, en route from San Francisco to Hong Kong, struck the eastern reef of the atoll during a powerful gale on the night of March 4, 1866. The ship was commanded by Captain Tobias and among the ship's passengers was a renowned opera troupe. The castaway passengers were stranded for 3 weeks before taking off in two small boats to the Mariana Islands, formerly known as Ladrone Islands. One of the boats made it safely to Guam where the 22 passengers were welcomed by the Spanish governor of the Mariana Islands, Francisco Moscoso y Lara. The other boat, carrying the captain and eight passengers, was never found. Before leaving the atoll to search for help, Captain Tobias buried flasks of quiksilver, coined money, and other valuables. It was reported that he even erected marks on the spot where the cargo was buried, but it had been washed away by the sea.

Newspapers across the world reported about the buried cargo from the *Libelle* shipwreck, and many expeditions occurred to the uninhabited atoll between 1867 and 1868 in search for the valuable goods. The Hawaiian schooner, *Moi Wahine*, brought 8 Hawaiian divers to the atoll to search for the cargo. The Hawaiian sloop, *Hokulele*, salvaged 247 flasks of quiksilver and a brig from China salvaged another 248. The English brig, *Cleo*, returned to Honolulu with 240 flasks of quiksilver, some copper, an anchor, and chain.

The China tea clipper, *Dashing Wave*, en route from China to Australia, crashed into the reef of the atoll during a gale on the night of August 30, 1870. The clipper was commanded by Captain Henry Vandervord, who managed to salvage a chart and nautical instruments but found no compass. After 31 days with no water and only a case of wine and some bread, the captain and 12 crew members fixed their oar and made a sail out of blankets sewn together. They set off to search for any inhabited land for 30 days. By the time they sighted Kosrae, the easternmost of the Caroline Islands, their mouths were parched and tongues were swollen by the tropical sun. The King of Kosrae housed the men and offered sails, a mast, and provisions of every kind. Captain Vandervord and his crew tried to reach Kingsmill, but encountered another gale and returned to Kosrae for 39 days until they were rescued by Captain Beatson of the *Oriti*.

On July 4, 1898, during the Spanish-American War, General Francis V. Greene of the SS *China*, stopped on the atoll en route to the Philippines and raised the American flag. Also in July 1898, another claim was made by General Merritt of the USAT *Thomas* who declared the atoll for the United States. Both acts, however, were not regarded as a sufficient claim to the island and on January 17, 1899, Commander Edward D. Taussig of the USS *Bennington* formally annexed the atoll by raising the American flag.

Although the United States rarely made stops on the atoll, an expedition in 1902 and 1904 encountered Japanese pearlers, fishermen, and feather hunters. In 1902, Captain A. Croskey, aboard the USAT *Buford*, sighted eight Japanese fishermen. The Japanese claimed they were left by a fishing schooner to fish around the atoll but, as noted in a report, Captain Croskey suspected that they were actually there pearling. In 1904, Rear Admiral Evans of the USS *Adams* spotted Japanese inhabitants collecting feathers and harvesting shark fins.

A number of Japanese artifacts were found on the atoll in the early 1900s. In 1906, General John J. Pershing of the USAT *Thomas* found shacks and graves of Japanese fishermen. The next U.S. visit in 1912 by the USS *Supply* found no evidence of Japanese feather collectors. However, between 1913 and 1921, apparently no U.S. vessel stopped at the atoll, so bird hunting could have gone on undetected once again. In 1922, Lieutenant Commander S. Picking of the USS *Beaver* reported several deserted huts which had been used by the Japanese for birds, fish or pearls.

In 1923, the *Tanager* Expedition completed an extensive biological survey of the atoll. The leader of the expedition, Dr. Alexander Wetmore, and other expedition members named the other two islets Wilkes and Peale after Lieutenant Charles Wilkes and Titian Peale of the 1841 U.S. Exploring Expedition. The expedition found three old Japanese camps, one on each islet, containing bird bones and other domestic artifacts and tools relating to the skinning of birds. On Wilkes Islet, a grave, Japanese shrines, and boat about 40-ft long were

found. A few bottles, bits of porcelain dish, and *Tridacna* shells were observed at the bases of the shrines which may have been used as offerings. The Japanese camps were described in the following journal entry by Dr. Wetmore on July 30, 1923:

There is no question but that it was built by men here to collect birds for millinery uses. One building 15 by 30 was evidently used for housing. [...] Another shed, somewhat larger, was a workshop. [...] A short string with a long hook tied at one end was fastened to a nail at the back and probably served to hold the bird's body during skinning. [...] There were large numbers of trays 18 inches by four feet to dry birds and a rack of bamboo at one side to support them. [...] Scattered among the trees behind were great layers of bones, witnesses to the slaughter that had taken place. The majority were those of terns with many boobies and larger numbers of man-of-war bird. Many thousand birds had been destroyed. [...] The huts are unquestionably of Japanese build as they show Japanese workmanship, Japanese material, and many boards are marked with Japanese ideographs. (Olson 1996, 106-107)

JOHNSTON ATOLL || KALAMA & CORNWALLIS

Johnston Atoll received the modern Hawaiian name, *Moku Kua'au Ionatana*, by the Kōmike Hua'ōlelo as a direct translation for the atoll. *Moku kua'au* means 'atoll' or 'lagoon island' and *Ionatana* translates as the name 'Johnston.' However, Johnston Atoll shares a deeper historical connection with Hawai'i, when in 1858, the Hawaiian schooner *Kalama* annexed the atoll for the Kingdom of Hawai'i and the two islets were then named Kalama Island and Cornwallis Island.

On September 2, 1796, Captain Joseph Pierpont gave the earliest recorded account and accurate position of the two islands and shoal that make up Johnston Atoll, when the American brig *Sally* ran aground on a nearby reef. Several newspapers published his report, including the *Boston Gazette* on September 18, 1797.

In lat. 16,45 N. long. 169,38 W. from London, on my passage from the Sandwich Islands to China; the 2d of Sept. 1796, at midnight, in the company with the schooner Prince William Henry, William Wake, Master, of London, we both ran ashore on the north side of a reef of coral rocks and sand, where we continued until next day noon-at which time the weather being very clear. We saw two small islands of sand, bearing W. by N. 4 or 5 miles distant, and from our topgallant-mast-head. We saw the shoal extending E.S.E southerly round to W.S.S -but how far we were not able to determine.

Keep the lat. 17 N. and this shoal will not be seen.

Joseph Pierpont

N.B. It is hoped the printers of America, will give the above a place in their papers.

(Ward 1967, 3:417)

In 1804, Russian naval officer and explorer Adam Johann von Krusenstern (1813, 201) accurately suspected land in the vicinity of Johnston through his observations of surrounding seabirds.

On the 15th June we saw in latitude 17° and longitude 169°30'an extraordinary number of birds that hovered round the ship in flocks of upwards of a hundred; this raised our hopes of meeting land very considerably; but although the night was perfectly clear, and we kept a good look out, there was none to be perceived. I cannot; however, but think, that during the night we must have passed near some island, or rock, standing above the water, that serves as a resting place for these birds; for we again saw several the next morning, nor did we lose sight of them until noon.

The islets were sighted 3 years later on December 14, 1807, by Lieutenant William Henry Smyth, aboard HMS Cornwallis, and became known as Johnston or Cornwallis Islands after the ship and her captain, Charles James Johnston. No additional accounts were reported in the area until 1841 during the United States Exploring Expedition when Samuel R. Knox, commanding officer of the schooner Flying Fish, sighted and described the atoll. His observations were summarized by Captain Charles Wilkes in the hydrographic report of the expedition under Smyth's Island, indicating the position as identical to Cornwallis Island.

On December 19, 1857, William H. Parker and Richard F. Ryan obtained a working agreement with Robert Byxbee and Asa Stoddard, owners of the schooner *Palestine*, to take possession of Johnston under the Guano Islands Act of 1856. The *Palestine* party, including

Parker, Captain W. R. Perriman and the ship mate, arrived and took possession of Johnston on March 19, 1858, by erecting a flagstaff and cross bearing an inscription that claimed the entire atoll for the United States. On June 8, 1858, Byxbee, Stoddard, Ryan, and others then formed the Pacific Guano Company, based in San Francisco, to exploit the guano. Meanwhile, on May 31, 1858, Samuel C. Allen obtained a royal commission from King Kamehameha IV to take possession of unclaimed islands for the Hawaiian government. On June 14, Allen and Captain Watson, of the Hawaiian schooner *Kalama*, arrived at Johnston and proceeded to take possession of the islands. They removed the flagstaff, American flag and cross left by the *Palestine* and hoisted the Hawaiian flag, claiming both for the Kingdom of Hawai'i. They then renamed the larger island Kalama and called the smaller island Cornwallis. Following Allen's initial report to the Minister of the Interior, which insinuated that the islands were deserted, the following proclamation was published in the *Polynesian* newspaper of Honolulu on July 31, 1858:

By Authority.

PROCLAMATION.

Whereas on the 14th day of June, 1858, Cornwallis Island in Latitude 16° 43' North, and Longitude 169°33' West from Greenwich, and on the 19th day of the same month of June, 1858, Kalama Island in Latitude 16°44' North, and Longitude 169°21' West, were taken possession of, with the usual formalities, by Samuel C. Allen, Esquire, he being duly authorized to do so, in the name of Kamehameha IV., King of the Hawaiian Islands: Therefore, this is to give notice that the said Islands so taken possession of are henceforth to be considered and respected as part of the Domain of the King of the Hawaiian Islands.

Published pursuant to an order by the King in Privy Council, on the 27th day of July, 1858.

On July 22, 1858, Captain Perriman was sent by the Pacific Guano Co. on a return trip to Johnston, where he and his crew discovered the Hawaiian flag in place of their American flag. He reasserted the rights of the United States by again hoisting the American flag and leaving two of his crew in occupation of the islands. These men were occupying the atoll for the United States at the time the Royal Proclamation was published and correspondence swiftly ensued between Louis Blanding, attorney for the Pacific Guano Co., U.S. Secretary of State Lewis Cass, Attorney General Jeremiah S. Black, U.S. Commissioner James W. Borden, Minister of Foreign Relations Robert C. Wyllie, Minister of the Interior Lot Kamehameha and E. P. Adams, contractor for Samuel Allen. Due to the claim of Johnston by the United States prior to claim by the Hawaiian Government, Lot Kamehameha revoked their contract with E. P. Adams. The following correspondence summarizes the situation:

Interior Office October 16, 1858 E. P. Adams Esgre,

Sir.

I have to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of the 7th Inst. informing me in reply to my letters of the 16th & 17th of September, that when Mr. S. C. Allen visited Cornwallis' and Kalama Islands he found upon the latter Island a board with an inscription upon it to the effect that those Islands had been previously visited and taken possession of by the Schooner "Palestine."

I regret that Mr. Allen did not mention this circumstance in the report which he sent me, dated July 13th 1858, for, had His Majesty[']s Government been aware that such a notice had been found on Kalama Island, the Proclamation of July 27th would not have been published in the Polynesian newspapers until it had been clearly ascertained that these Islands had not been taken possession of by the officers of the Schooner Palestine in the form required by the laws of the United States.

On your receipt of application dated 24th May 1858 in which you stated that you were desirous to take possession of certain Islands in the North Pacific in the name of the Hawaiian Government, which islands were not at that time in the possession of any Government, I brought the subject before His Majesty in Council for consideration, and His Majesty being at all times anxious to encourage enterprises of this character which would benefit His Government granted a Royal Commission dated May 31st 1858 to Mr. S. C. Allen empowering him to take possession in His Majesty's name of any Island or Islands in the North Pacific which were not in the possession of any other Government or any other people.

On the same day, the agreement setting forth the terms and conditions on which you were to have the exclusive privilege for five years of taking Guano &c from any Islands taken possession of by Mr. Allen of the schooner Kalama under the commission was drawn up and signed; No mention however was made in the agreement that the contract would be void so far as related to any Island which might afterwards be proved to have been taken possession of previously, in the name of some other Government as I considered this agreement to be binding only so far as related to any Islands taken possession of by Mr. Allen which were not in the possession of another Government in accordance with the power granted to Mr. Allen in his commission.

On Mr. Allen's return from Kalama Island, I, under instructions from His Majesty in Council, ordered the Chief Clerk of this office to have a clause added to the agreement of May 31st providing for such an event, and he inform[ed] me that he submitted such a clause to you for approval, and that you told him the clause as he had drawn it up was not in accordance with the verbal management you had made with me on the subject, and that you would see me in relation to it--but from that day to this no further notice has been taken of the subject.

Under these circumstances, and from that fact that you admit that these Islands had been visited and taken possession of by the Schooner "Palestine" previous to Mr. Allen's taking possession of them in His Majesty[']s name. I consider the agreement of May 31st 1858 void so far as Cornwallis' and Kalama Islands are concerned, and I have to request you to have a clause added to the said agreement to prevent a similar occurrence.

I beg to remain Sir Yours respectfully, (signed) Lot Kamehameha

(Hawaii State Archives, Int. Dept., Land, Box No. 72)

In March 1859, Lieutenant John Mercer Brooke, of the U.S. schooner *Fenimore Cooper*, surveyed the atoll to assess guano mining operational logistics and secure the interests of the United States against further conflicting claims. By the time Brooke arrived, the Pacific Guano Co., under Captain A. D. Piper, had made their huts and planned on building a railway, wharf and channel through the reef to safely load vessels. In the following report from August 28, 1859, Charles N. Pendleton describes the guano production and facilities on island:

The large Island appears to be covered with guano, and that of good quality, to the average depth of from three to four feet. A wharf five-hundred feet in length has been built off from the eastern side of the Island, and a railroad track laid from one end of the wharf up to the guano, so that with one wood car twelve men ship now about forty-five tons per day. [...] The guano is taken off in lighters, carrying from eight to ten tons each. These lighters have sails, and generally fetch off and on with the regular trades which prevail here. (Ward 1966, 3:431-433)

Having already occupied the island and invested in their enterprise, on December 9, 1859, the Pacific Guano Co. received their official certificate from the Secretary of State stating that they had entered sufficient bonds to claim Johnston under the Guano Islands Act. Throughout their time on Johnston, the guano company harvested and shipped guano until the highest grades were depleted and the island was abandoned. However, ships from the American Guano Company were also reported at Johnston between 1860 and 1861.

The only significant shipwreck reported at Johnston during the 19th century was of the American whaling bark *Jacob A. Howland*, Captain McInnis, which struck the reef on December 26, 1889, while searching for whaling grounds near the atoll with another whaler, *Abraham Barker*. Following the wreck, the crew of 60 men took the boats and remained on the reef until morning. All but one or two men made it to Johnston, and once they landed on the island the crew reportedly collected bird eggs which were then rationed along with their few provisions from the boats. Just 3 days later, on December 29, the *Abraham Barker* made its way through the reef and picked up the crew. They sailed for Hawai'i and arrived at Wai'anae where they were then transferred to an inter-island steamer and safely taken to Honolulu.

Conflicting claims arose yet again, this time as Great Britain was planning their trans-Pacific cable. On July 13, 1892, Captain Eustace Rooke left Honolulu, aboard HBMS *Champion*, under orders to leave for Johnston without disclosing the destination. Captain Rooke found the atoll uninhabited when he landed on the July 19, and left an annexation notice claiming Johnston for Great Britain. While on the atoll, he observed four old huts from the guano companies and wreckage from the whaling bark *Jacob A. Howland*, including paddles, boat hooks, casks, a medicine chest, tinned goods and other provisions. His observations were published in the *Daily Bulletin* on July 25, 1892, along with a copy of the proclamation he left on the island.

PROCLAMATION.

In the name of Her Majesty Queen Victoria, Queen of the united Kingdom of Great Britain and

Ireland, Empress of India:

By Eustace Rooke, Esquire, Captain in the Royal Navy Commanding her Majesty's Ship "Champion." Whereas, I have it in command from Her Majesty Queen Victoria, through her Principal Secretary of State for the Colonies, to assert the sovereign rights of Her Majesty over the group of islands, known as the Johnston Islands, the same having been taken possession of by Her Majesty.

Now therefore I, Eustace Rooke, Esquire, Captain in the Royal Navy, commanding her Majesty's Ship "Champion," do hereby declare and proclaim to all men that from and after the date of these presents, the full sovereignty of the Johnston Islands, situate in Latitude 16°15' North, Longitude 169°30' West, vests in Her Majesty Queen Victoria, her heirs and successors for ever.

Given under my hand at Johnston Islands, this nineteenth day of July, 1892.

Eustace Rooke.

Witnesses:

Captain of H. B. M. Ship Champion. James Weston Little, Chas. Wilson Fowler, Lieutenants.

Many inquiries followed the printing of this proclamation and on September 26, 1892, the *Daily Bulletin* reported a telegram from the *New York Herald*, "The guano beds on Johnston Island having been exhausted and the American firm having left that territory the State Department officials say the United States has no further interest in the island and has no right to interfere with Great Britain if she finds the island of any use to her." Although the United States claimed to have no further interest in Johnston, an agent for the Pacific Islands Guano Co. claimed that they did not abandon the islands and planned to resume work. However, no records indicate that the company ever returned to the atoll and negotiations ensued between the Hawaiian government and Great Britain when the former protested British annexation of the atoll. The British government later recognized Hawaiian sovereignty over the island, through the annexation of Johnston by the *Kalama* in 1858, and negotiations dropped when it appeared that Great Britain would run their cable through Tabuaeran, Kiribati. Johnston was still listed as an island bonded to the United States as of 1893, although little attention was given to the atoll until the United States annexed the Hawaiian Islands in 1898.

In 1900, Johnston was omitted from the list of Hawaiian Islands annexed by the United States and Hawai'i maintained ownership of the atoll. In February 1905, Messrs. Underwood and Brown chartered the steamer *Iwalani*, Captain Piltz, from the Inter-Island Steam Navigation Company to prospect for guano and returned to Honolulu with samples. On September 11, 1909, the territory leased the islands to private citizen, Max Schlemmer, for a term of 15 years under a set of stipulations, including the annual planting of coconut trees. However, on August 8, 1917, Edward M. May reported to the Commissioner of Public Lands that during his visit on the islands in 1914, they were uninhabited with no sign of coconut

trees. On August 8, 1918, after unsuccessful attempts to contact Schlemmer and re-assert lease agreements, the Commissioner assigned the lease to C. K. Ai and Co. A few men from the company were then sent to Johnston to begin fishing operations but only lasted one day on the island before they mutinied and returned to Honolulu.

Johnston Atoll continued to be relatively abandoned until July 1923, when the fourth *Tanager* Expedition arrived and conducted biological surveys. During their surveys of the atoll, Dr. Alexander Wetmore, who led the team of scientists, found evidence of operations for the millinery feather trade. In the following journal entry for July 13, 1923, Dr. Wetmore describes a hollow filled with seabird bones that he discovered:

In a hollow southwest of the hill I found remains of several thousand Sooty Terns, Wedge-tailed and Christmas Shearwaters that had been killed by plume hunters and the bodies thrown in a pile after the hand carrying the primaries had been cut away. Careful examination showed that the skeletons were complete except for the hand. In all the mass of bones examined I found no metacarpals. None of the rest of the plumage had been taken as the bones were held together by a felted mass of decomposed feathers. I judged that the work had been done during a few days at most and that it had taken place when the lumber and other supplies from the beach had been landed. Apparently an attempt had been made to burn the bodies, as the surface of the deposit was charred. (Olson, 1996: 96)

As a result of this expedition, President Calvin Coolidge declared the islands of Johnston Atoll a Bird Reservation by Executive Order No. 4467 on June 29, 1926.

PALMYRA ATOLL || HONUAIĀKEA

Palmyra Atoll received the modern Hawaiian name, *Honuaiākea*, by the Kōmike Hua'ōlelo. Honuaiākea was the name of Pele's canoe when making her migration to Hawai'i. The following version of *The Coming of Pele*, from Ka'ū, Hawai'i, begins the story of that migration:

Ka Huaka'i a Pele

Mai Kahiki mai ka wahine 'o Pele, Mai ka 'āina o Polapola, Mai ka pūnohu a Kāne, Mai ke ao lalapa i ka lani, mai ke ao 'ōpua.

Lapakū i Hawaiʻi ka wahine ʻo Pele. Kālai i kona ka waʻa Honua-i-ākea, Kō waʻa, e Ka-moho-aliʻi, holoa mai ka moku.

Ua 'oki, ua pa'a ka wa'a o ke akua, Kō wa'a o Kālai-honua-mea, Holo mai ke au.

Hele a a'e'a'e Pele-honua-mea, 'A'e'a'e kalani 'ai punia mai ka moku. 'A'e'a'e kini o ke 'kua.

Iā wai ka uli, ka hope o ka wa'a, e nā hoa'li'i? Iā Pele-a-'ehu, a Menehune. Ka 'ia ka liu, ho'onoho 'ia kāu hoe iluna o ka

waʻa ʻO Kū mā lāua ʻo Lono.

Holo i ka honua 'āina kau i ho'olewa moku, 'O Hi'i-aka no'eau he 'kua. Hele a'e a kōmi i ka ale o Pele.

E huahua'i i Kahiki, lapa uila e Pele, E hua'i, ehua'inaho'i a. The Coming of Pele

From Kahiki came the woman Pele, from the land of Polapola, from the rising reddish mist of Kāne, from the clouds blazing in the sky, horizon clouds.

Restless desire for Hawaii seized the woman Pele. Ready-carved was the canoe, Honuaiākea, your own canoe, O Kamohoali'i, for sailing to distant lands. Well-lashed and equipped, the canoe of the high gods, your canoe, Sacred-hewer-of-the-land, stood ready to sail with the ocean current.

Pele-Honua-mea embarked, the heavenly one stepped aboard to sail round Kahiki island. Multitudes of gods came aboard.

O royal companions, who handled the steering paddle

at the stern?
Pele-the-redhead herself was helmswoman, ruler of the

Menehune.

Kū and Lono bailed out the bilge water, carried paddles, placed them in station.

Hi'iaka, the wise sister, next embarked, boarded the craft to dwell with Pele in her sailing quarters, close to Pele on the long voyage.

Jets of lava gushed from Kahiki. Pele hurled her lightning, vomit of flame, outpouring lava was the woman's farewell.

(Pukui and Korn 1973, 52-56)

Recorded discovery of the atoll is attributed to Captain Cornelius Sowle, aboard the American vessel *Palmyra* on November 10, 1802. His description of the area was first introduced in the UK Naval Chronicle of 1805 (12:464-465) with the following opening letter:

MR. EDITOR, I REQUEST you to insert in your Journal the following description of a newly discovered island in the South Sea, which was seen by Capt. Sowle, in the American Ship Palmyra, of Providence, Rhode Island, on the 10th of November, 1802. As the weather was fine, that day, at noon, he had an observation of the sun's altitude, by which the latitude is accurately ascertained; and as he took his departure from Christmas Island, and had a gentle westerly wind, it is scarcely possible there can be an error in the longitude, even of two or three miles.

This island lies out of the track of most Navigators, who pass either from America to Asia, or from Asia to America; and, till lately, English Whalers have been prohibited fishing in that quarter, which accounts for it not having been seen before; it is, however, probable, that there are several other islands in the same direction. Capt. Sowle thinks he passed one the day before, as he saw many birds, and imagined he heard breakers; but the weather being very hazy, he could not see either rocks or land. I am, Sir,

Yours, &c.

Canonbury-place, Oct. 4. WILLIAM JACOB.

Commander Charles Wilkes summarized Captain Sowle's description of Palmyra in the hydrographic report of the United States Exploring Expedition, noting that the USS *Porpoise* sighted and confirmed the position of the island during the expedition. On September 15, 1840, Captain James Scott visited Palmyra, aboard HMS Samarang, and in some accounts the atoll was listed as the name of the vessel. Edward Lucett landed on Palmyra on July 21, 1848 after receiving an account from a man at Tabuaeran, Kiribati, that there were barrels of sperm oil left behind from a wrecked whaling vessel. Though no wreck or barrel remnants were discovered by Lucett and his crew, he provided one of the earliest accounts of wildlife on the atoll. Following the Guano Act of 1856, Gerrit P. Judd took possession of Palmyra for the United States as an agent of the American Guano Company on October 20, 1859. However, due to local environmental conditions, the availability of commercial guano was highly unlikely and no claim was ever formally filed nor evidence found to support that guano companies ever occupied or operated at Palmyra. On February 26, 1862, the Hawaiian Cabinet Council met in consideration of a petition from Zenas Bent and Johnson B. Wilkinson to extend Hawaiian sovereignty over Palmyra. On March 1, the petition was granted and Lot Kamehameha, then Minister of the Interior, issued a letter authorizing Bent to take possession of Palmyra as Hawaiian territory. On April 15, Captain Bent took formal possession of Palmyra for the Hawaiian Kingdom in accordance with the royal commission issued to him by King Kamehameha IV. Bent provided his first report of the atoll to L. Kamehameha on June 16, and on the June 18, L. Kamehameha issued a proclamation announcing the annexation of Palmyra to the Kingdom of Hawai'i. Bent sold his rights later that year to his partner J. B. Wilkinson. After Wilkinson's death in 1866, the rights of Palmyra were passed to his wife Kalama, as per his will, and continued to pass vigorously through various hands via sale and inheritance. The following correspondences from the Hawai'i State Archives (Int. Dept., Land, Box No. 75) document the timeline of annexation, including the proclamation which commissioned Zenas Bent to take possession of Palmyra:

Kamehameha IV. By the grace of God, of the Hawaiian Islands, King.

To all whom it may concern, greeting:

Know ye, that we have authorized and empowered our faithful subject Zenas Bent and by these presents, do hereby empower the said Zenas Bent to take possession in our name of Palmyra Island, the said Island being situated in longitude 161°53′ west and latitude 6°4′ north not having been taken possession of by any other government or any other people, by erecting thereon a short pole with the Hawaiian flag wrapped [a]round it and interring at the foot thereof a bottle well corked containing a paper signed by him in the following form, viz:

"Visited and taken possession of by order of His Majesty King Kamehameha IV, for him and his successors on the Hawaiian throne by the undersigned in the Schooner Louisa this day of -- 186-"

In witness whereof we have hereunto set our hand, conjointly with our Kuhina nui and caused the great seal of the Kingdom to be affixed this 1st day of March A. D. 1862.

- (sig.) Kamehameha
- (sig.) Kaahumanu.

By command of the King of the Kuhina nui,

(sig.) L. Kamehameha.

The Minister of the Interior then transmitted this commission to Wilkinson and Bent:

Interior Office.

Honolulu, March 1, 1862.

Gentlemen:

I am instructed by His Majesty's Government to acknowledge the receipt of your petition of the 24th ult. and to inform you that in Cabinet Council held on the 26th ult. at the Palace, the above mentioned memorial was considered and discussed, and I am authorized to state on the part of his Majesty's Government that they consent to the taking possession of the island of Palmyra, situated in longitude 161° 53 West and latitude 6° 4 North as described by you in said memorial; for the purpose of increasing the trade and commerce of his Kingdom as well as offering protection of interests of its subjects.

I have the honor to forward with this dispatch the authority under the Royal Sign Manuel to Zenas Bent, Esq., to take possession of the above mentioned island of Palmyra and I beg to request that you will after having executed the orders contained in the commission, you will report the fact to this Department.

Hoping that the enterprise may prove successful, I beg to remain,

Gentlemen, Your ob.t Serv't, (sig.) L. Kamehameha

To Messrs. J. Wilkinson and Zenas Bent.

The first official report from Bent to the Department of Interior went as follows:

To His Royal Highness PRINCE L. KAMEHAMEHA, Minister of the Interior

Sir: In pursuance of the authority granted to me by His Majesty Kamehameha IV., on the first day of March A.D. 1862, I took possession of Palmyra Island, in the name of His Majesty; and according to my instructions, I erected on the island a pole, with the Hawaiian flag wrapped [a]round it, and I interred at the foot of it a bottled [sic] well corked, containing the paper signed be me, in the following form:

"This island is taken possession of by order of His Majesty King Kamehameha IV., for him and his successors on the Hawaiian throne, by the undersigned, in the Schooner Louisa, this 15th day of April A. D. 1862.

(Signed) Zenas Bent"

By correct observation, I found the Island to be in latitude 5°50′ North, and in longitude 161°53′ West. The island is about ten miles in length and six miles in brea[d]th. The eastern end rises about twenty feet above the level of the sea; the landing is on the west end; and a vessel can lie in perfect safety in three fathoms of water.

The trees on the island are cocoanut, puhala and a species of the koa.* All kinds of vegetables will grow on the island. I planted some beans, corn and watermelons.

I erected a dwelling house on the island, and also a curing house for biche de mer. I left on the Island one white man and four Hawaiians, who are engaged in the curing of biche de mer.

I propose returning to the island in about ten days.

I have the honor to remain,

Your obedient servant,

Z. Bent.

Honolulu, June 16, 1862

*Kou was evidently meant instead of Koa. There is indeed a tree very common on Palmyra which greatly resembles the Kou (*Cordia subcordat*a). It belongs, however, to a different family altogether, and is *Pisonia grandis*. There is no tree on Palmyra which resembles the Koa (*Acacia koa*) unless it be the *Suriana maritima*, a shrub which has however entirely disappeared; it was recorded only by Streets from that Island. (Rock 1916, 5)

As Minister of the Interior, Lot Kamehameha then issued the following proclamation on June 18, 1862 announcing the annexation of Palmyra for the Kingdom of Hawaii:

By Authority.

PROCLAMATION:

Whereas, On the 15th day of April, 1862, PALMYRA ISLAND, in latitude 5°50′ North, and longitude 161°53′ West, was taken possession of, with usual formalities, by Captain Zenas Bent, he being duly authorized to do so, in the name of KAMEHAMEHA IV., King of the Hawaiian Islands.

Therefore, This is to give notice, that the said Island, so taken possession of, is henceforth to be considered and respected as part of the Domain of the King of the Hawaiian Islands.

L. KAMEHAMEHA,

Minister of the Interior.

Department of the Interior, June 18, 1862

In 1873, the atoll was surveyed by surgeon William H. Jones of the USS *Portsmouth*, Commander Joseph S. Skerrett, who created the first standard chart of the area. Commander Skerrett and his crew landed on the morning of December 14, and remained until December 27. They encountered an American businessman, Clayton L. Strawn, who was living on the island curing copra and it was noted in Skerrett's report to the Navy that Strawn cured about 5 tons of copra in 5 months with the help of fewer than 10 Tahitian workers. In 1885, after the death of Wilkinson's widow Kalama, two of her heirs gave their rights to Palmyra to Luther Wilcox. Soon after, Wilcox transferred his rights to the Pacific Navigation Company, which paid their taxes for the atoll to the Kingdom of Hawaii through 1888. During that time, the company contracted a man named Dillon and his wife to live on the island for a year to plant coconuts, cut firewood, and seek commercial endeavors for fish and shells. On October 25, 1886 Dillon reported that the coconut trees on the island included 2,100 full bearing large trees, 1,000 full bearing small trees, 500 old trees not bearing and 6,000 young trees not bearing; also that he personally planted 200 on one islet. On April 16, 1888 the British iron barque Henry James, Captain Ralph Lattimore, wrecked on Kingman Reef. All 30 passengers and crew members remained at the small boats until morning and reached Palmyra in the evening. Although they found the islands uninhabited, they observed several huts and firewood that was cut and piled. With few provisions left by April 21, it was decided that the mate, boatswain and several seamen would head to Samoa in one of the boats. They arrived in Apia after 19 days and chartered the schooner *Vindex* to pick up the stranded party. Meanwhile, aboard the steamship *Mariposa*, Captain H. M. Hayward learned of the wreck from Lieutenant Cressap, of the USS Mohican in Apia. Feeling it was his duty to rescue them, Captain Hayward rescued the party on May 29, and everyone made it to Honolulu in good health. Captain Lattimore reported that during their six weeks on Palmyra, all hands procured fresh water and subsisted on coconuts, fish, eels, birds, landcrabs and peppergrass. Captain Hayward, the first officer and four seamen of the Mariposa were later awarded and recognized by the British Government and Board of Trade in London for rescuing the crew and passengers of the *Henry James*. On May 28,

1889, Commander Nichols, of HMS Cormorant, annexed Palmyra for Great Britain during their plans to construct a trans-Pacific cable. The atoll was then surveyed in 1897 for its suitability as a submarine cable station by Lieutenant C. Brewis aboard HMS Penguin, Captain Arthur M. Field. On July 16, 1897, the Hawaiian Star published a report from Captain Rosehill, of the schooner Norma, regarding British claims to the atoll. He reported that during his brief landing on the island, he found a weathered flagpole with a proclamation declaring the islands under possession of Great Britain, along with scattered remnants of clothing and items bearing the initials 'H. M. S. Penguin.' Following this report, Palmyra owners followed up to successfully dispute British claim through rights secured from the Pacific Navigation Company and the Hawaiian government via annexation by Captain Zenas Bent in 1862.On December 16, 1898, Palmyra was included as a territory among the Hawaiian Islands annexed by the United States. In 1911, the Pacific Navigation Company's rights were conveyed to Judge Henry E. Cooper, who then bought out the other claim the following year. In February 1912, knowing that Great Britain had lingering interests in Palmyra, the USS West Virginia took formal possession of the atoll for the United States. Four months later, Cooper successfully obtained a land court title and became the sole owner of Palmyra. In July 1913, H. E. Cooper, Joseph F. Rock and Dr. C. M. Cooke Jr. travelled to Palmyra aboard the *Luka* and surveyed the atoll. Along with his comprehensive botanical surveys and many photographs, Rock provided detailed descriptions of Palmyra Island, and Bird, Eastern, Home, Holei, and Cooper Islets. Among his observations were references to Japanese inhabitants, likely there to harvest feathers for the millinery feather trade or to collect copra oil.

On Home Islet were signs of previous habitation. We found a wooden shack, covered with corrugated iron, full of wood and boxes with Japanese characters written on them; the place was surrounded by huge oriental jars 3 ¹/2 ft high, a few broken, others in good condition and full of rainwater. Behind the shack was a dug out pit which was undoubtedly used by the bird poachers in disposing bird cadavers. (Rock 1916, 12-14)

From 1920 to 1921 the island was leased to Colonel William Meng, his wife Idell Meng, and Edwin Benner Jr. who lived on Palmyra to investigate commercial copra production and fishing possibilities. At that time there were about 25,000 bearing coconut trees on the atoll, and on August 19, 1922, Leslie and Ellen Fullard-Leo acquired the title to Palmyra from H. E. Cooper, except Home islets, to establish the Palmyra Copra Company.

KINGMAN REEF || NALUKĀKALA

Kingman Reef received the modern Hawaiian name, *Nalukākala*, by the Kōmike Hua'ōlelo. This name translates as 'surf that arrives in combers' and may be attributed to the atoll because it is largely submerged by rolling breakers. The first western record of Kingman Reef was given by Captain Edmund Fanning of the American ship *Betsey* in 1798. In *Voyages Round the World*, Fanning recounts his premonition on the evening of June 13, where multiple times he found himself on deck after sleepwalking. Before he finally retired for the night, Fanning left instructions with the officer on deck to maintain their position till morning. That morning, Fanning realized they were quickly sailing towards what he described as mast high breakers. After maneuvering out of immediate danger and gaining a safe view, he described the crescent shaped reef surrounded by shoalwater.

We did not discover a foot of ground, rock, or sand, above water, where a boat might have been hauled up; of course had our ship run on it in the night, there can be no question but we should all have perished. (Fanning 1833, 234)

Kingman Reef was named after Captain W. E. Kingman, who described it in his journal on November 29, 1853, aboard the American ship *Shooting Star*. The reef was not written on his chart; however, he recorded its location near the spot assigned to Danger Rock and sent a copy of his journal entry to the Friend, published on September 9, 1855. He wrote to the Honolulu-based newspaper to inform ships passing within the vicinity of the reef that it is "very dangerous to approach in the night, particularly with a light wind and smooth sea, as such, there would be no breakers visible until a ship was so near as to be in considerable danger." Well recognized as a danger to navigators, Kingman Reef has a long history of reported sightings, provided with alternative names and varying geographical points. The captain of the ship Alice Thorndike visited and reported the reef in 1859 and was known in some accounts by the name of the ship or simply as Thorndike reef or shoal. Despite the lack of land or guano, Kingman was claimed in 1860 under the Guano Islands Act of 1856 and formally listed as Danger island, Reef or rock. It was sometimes recorded as Maria or Crane Shoal, from Captain E. G. Crane, who reported the reef in 1862, aboard the schooner Maria. On October 2, 1872, Commander Nathaniel Green of the USS Resaca provided a report to The Friend regarding the dangers of the reef, and on June 22, 1874 the British steamship Tartar, commanded by J. S. Ferries, struck the reef and spent 2 days run aground before landing safely in Honolulu on June 28. Such reports of dangers and ship strikes within the vicinity of Kingman Reef appeared in navigational directories and newspapers frequently throughout the 19th century. However, with latitudinal and longitudinal points varying by report, some encounters proved to be treacherous. On January 16, 1893, the Hawaiian bark Lady Lampson was bound for Honolulu when the vessel struck a sunken reef off Palmyra. Captain J. Peterson, his wife and five crew members took to one boat and his first mate with the remaining four crew members took to the other. With plans to head for Palmyra, once they reached the open ocean a storm came through and both boats drifted for 9 days, before miraculously re-sighting the wreck. They boarded what remained of the Lady Lampson and obtained some food and water, made repairs to the boats, and loaded them with provisions and navigational instruments. Both parties made for Honolulu, but were separated after 2 days. On February 13, the Captain's boat reached Honolulu and following their news, the steamship CR Bishop searched for the remaining crew of the Lady Lampson. It was thought

to have wrecked at Palmyra, but the crew of the *CR Bishop* instead found a wreck on Kingman's Shoal, which they boarded and identified as the missing *Lady Lampson*. In 1894, the *Hawai'i Holomua* newspaper reported that the other boat was overhauled by a passing vessel on its way to San Francisco. In 1897, the entire reef area was surveyed by HMS *Penguin*, commanded by Captain Arthur M. Field, and was considered identical to alternative names and points reported within the vicinity. Such names were subsequently removed from charts, including Caldew Reef and Maria Shoal. Kingman was formally annexed to the United States on May 10, 1922, by Lorrin A. Thurston. As an agent commissioned by the Palmyra Copra Company, he read a proclamation of annexation in the company of five witnesses. He then left the signed certificate, a record of the proceedings, American flag, and copies of the *Honolulu Advertiser* and *Star Bulletin* of May 3, 1922, in a glass jar, deposited in the base of a coral cairn. In 1926, Lieutenant Poland of the USS *Whippoorwill* officially surveyed the reef, accompanied by L. A. Thurston. Recognizing the deterioration of the annexation records, the glass jar was then transferred to the Hawai'i State Archives.

HOWLAND ISLAND || ULUKOU

Recognized by guano laborers in the late 1800s as *Ulukou*, this name for Howland Island translates as 'kou tree grove' and likely referenced a distinct kou tree grove located in the center of the island. One of the first appearances of this name was published in the *Ke Au Okoa* on January 16, 1868. Just a few years prior, in September 1862, James D. Hague published a report on the Pacific guano islands which included his observations of remains on the island.

There are some interesting traces on this (Howland's) island of former visitors or residents. Excavations and mounds in the centre of the island, among the thickets of brushwood... are evidently the work of man. The most extensive of these excavations is several hundred feet long, and about one hundred feet wide, and ten or fifteen feet deep, forming a gully or ditch, on each side of which the sand and gravel is carefully banked up and kept in its place by walls laid up of coral stone, (blocks of beach and reef rock).

The trees themselves may possibly owe their existence here to the originators of these works, for the sides of this gully are covered by a growth of wood which, unless younger than the rest, would show the trees to be of more recent origin than the excavation.

It is said to be of a species called by the natives of the Sandwich Islands, *Kou*, which abounds on many islands of the Pacific. In the same vicinity there are also the remains of what were low, flat mounds of regular shape, formed of gravel and walled up all around, being about a foot high, and just such as I have observed are used by many South Sea Islanders for the foundation and floor of their houses. In another part of the island, near the western beach some remains of a hut were found, and near by the fragments of a canoe, some pieces of bamboo and a blue bead. Here also was found, buried under a foot of sand, a human skeleton, the greater part of which, on being exposed to the air, crumbled to dust, leaving only two or three bones in condition to be preserved.

On the south end of the island there is a foot-path laid to cross a bed of coral debris or beach accumulations. The edges of the corals being rough, sharp and painful to the feet, the paths seem to have been laid for the convenience of passengers across this end of the island. It is several hundred feet long, made of flat, smooth stones, at convenient distances apart, for stepping from one to the other. They were evidently laid by hand, as they lie in a direction which forms nearly a right angle with the ridges made by the sea. It is probable that the originators of these works were South Sea Islanders. No implements or other traces of civilized people have been found.

It is not unlikely that the lizards which abound on the inhabited islands of the Pacific were brought here by these people, and the rats, possibly, came from the same sources. (18-19)*The hut may have been that built in 1857 by Arthur Benson. (Rogers 1933, 131)

The *Whippoorwill* Expedition of 1924 retraced Hague's steps on Howland Island. During the expedition, archaeological sites were mapped and photographed, including distinct coral pilings and footpaths. The following summary of observations was included in the expedition report:

During a week's exploration by the Whippoorwill Expedition, Bruce Cartwright and C. Montague Cooke, Jr., examined the large excavation spoken of by Hague. They could find no traces of the retaining walls, which may have been removed by the guano workers or drifted over with sand. A thicket of half-dead *kou* (*Cordia subcordata*) trees still marks the slopes of the wide ditch. Excavations of this sort, dug within an inch or two of the water table, but rarely lined with retaining walls, are common in the Tuamotu Archipelago. In them, taro, *ape*, bananas, and sugar cane are grown.

Ruins among the *kou* trees that Hague thought to be house platforms were not found in 1924. Here was found, however, a plank 4-ft long, 1-ft wide and 0.75-inches thick, on which was carved 'Makiattafofi.' On the east coast, a plain canoe paddle was picked up. A photograph shows it to be exactly like a Tahitian paddle.

The footpath described by Hague is probably one of the six discovered by the Whippoorwill Expedition on the southeast coast. The remains of a hut and, nearby, the fragment of the canoe, pieces of bamboo, and a blue bead indicate visitors at no great time prior to Hague's visit. It may be noted, however, that on such desert islands wood is not easily destroyed. The board used to mark a grave on Jarvis Island in 1872 was firmly standing in 1924.

Howland Island is overrun by the Polynesian rat, both the brown and the black varieties. The rat and the *kou* tree, it is safe to assume, are of Polynesian introduction. (Emory [1934] 1971, 5)

Several American whaling ships sighted and charted the island as of 1822, including *Oeno*, which was commanded by Captain George B. Worth and who named it Worth Island. In 1826, Captain Daniel McKenzie sighted the island aboard the whaler *Minerva Smyth* and named it for the ship's managing agent, Isaac Howland, Jr. After Captain McKenzie landed on the island in November 1828, the island was placed on charts under the name Howland Island. However, on September 9, 1842, aboard the whale bark *Isabella*, Captain George E. Netcher found the island unmarked on his chart, and lastly named it Howland Island for a member of the Howland family who sighted it.

In October 1856, Captain Netcher authorized Arthur Benson, son of A. G. Benson, to take formal possession of Howland Island for his budding guano enterprise with business partner Captain Taylor. After Arthur Benson reported his success in doing so on February 5, 1857, Netcher filed for legal recognition of ownership from the Secretary of State. However, unbeknown to Netcher, on February 5, 1857, Arthur Benson and Charles H. Judd actually took possession of Howland Island on behalf of A. G. Benson and the American Guano Company. Netcher and partners organized the United States Guano Company in October 1858, and on December 3, Howland Island was legally assigned to their company. The following year they sent a vessel to exploit the guano on the island. However, by the time the United States Guano Co. arrived, the American Guano Co., which had already been mining guano on Baker and Jarvis Islands, were in full operation and occupied the island. A heated dispute ensued between the two guano companies but was settled in court on June 11, 1865, and all enterprises ended around 1878 when guano deposits were depleted. Meanwhile, out of Holmes Hole, Massachusetts, the Pacific Guano Company formed in 1859 and leased Howland Island under the Guano Islands Act of 1856. They abandoned their work on the island around 1868, after importing roughly 42,000 tons of guano with some 33 ships; 6 of which were reported wrecked or lost at sea on their homebound journey. These included the wrecks of the Mary Robinson, Lizzie Oakford and Arno, and two ships (including the Golden Eagle) taken by Confederate cruisers as they passed the southern United States. Along with ships that were pirated or went missing, during peak guano mining years in the 1860s, many ships loaded with guano wrecked before they had a chance to leave the atoll. Such reports were published in newspapers and those collected by geographer R. Gerard Ward (1966, 3:269-319) are summarized below: According to Captain E. A. Swift, the Golden Eagle was captured by the Alabama, Captain Semmes, on February 21, 1863, while en route to New Orleans carrying 1,200 tons of guano. Captain Semmes then ordered his first lieutenant to

loot and burn the ship. *Alabama* officers and crew took the ship papers, logbook and instruments from the *Golden Eagle*. Officers and crew of the *Golden Eagle* were allowed to bring one bag on board the *Alabama*. Upon their arrival they were shackled and remained on deck as the *Golden Eagle* was then set on fire. She sank the following morning.

While loading guano after 18 working days, the ship *Monsoon*, under the command of Captain Edward T. Merrill, struck a reef during a gale on January 10, 1864. After pounding on the reef for some time, the ship came off and sunk one mile from shore along with 1,143 tons of guano.

When Master John A. Willey of the ship *Ladoga* returned to Howland on June 28, 1864, he found the ship *Mary Robinson*, under the command of Captain McCleave, severely damaged. By 1700 hours, the ship had filled and at 2000 hours *Mary Robinson* sank with 1,300 tons of guano on board. All hands were saved and went aboard the bark *Harrison*, which was bound for repairs in San Francisco.

On August 9, 1864 the ship *Arno*, commanded by Captain Nason, wrecked on a reef while attempting to moor. The ship sailed past the mooring buoy, grounded on the reef, and swiftly became a total wreck. Captain Nason then boarded the ship *Lagoda* bound for Holme's Hole.

The British clipper ship *Kathay*, under the command of Captain William Popham, arrived at Howland on January 6, 1867. On January 20, a strong gale came through, prompting the men to make sail, but the ship slipped from the buoy. *Kathay* quickly filled and heaved, the masts broke, and the captain and the 25-member crew left on the boats. The ship then slipped off the reef and sank with 400 tons of guano. All hands safely made it to shore and remained on island till February 15.

On September 25, 1868, the ship *Lizzie Oakford*, commanded by Captain Rocko, stood out at sea within sight of the island. At 0400 hours on September 26, the superintendent observed vessel lights and responded with a light from his house before retiring to sleep. However, he was soon awoken by a seaman who swam to shore and reported that the ship had gone into the reef during the night. The next day the superintendent and his men assisted with rescuing provisions, clothing, and some copper which was later sold at auction. The ship *Lizzie Oakford* remained on the reef for 2 days before breaking up and losing 1,300 tons of guano. All hands were safely taken to Honolulu aboard the brig *Kamehameha IV* and the schooner *San Diego*.

Guano mining operations ceased in the late 1870s until John T. Arundel and Company, based in London, commenced guano mining operations on Howland in 1886 and remained until 1891. Once all guano companies abandoned the island, it was uncertain who had official sovereignty until the young men of the Hui Panalā'au project established permanent U.S. claims in 1935.

BAKER ISLAND || PUAKA'ILIMA

Hawaiian guano laborers working on Baker Island in the late 1850s named the island *Puaka'ilima*, meaning 'the 'ilima flower,' which may have reference to the islet of Puaka'ilima located off of Kawaihae on Hawai'i's Kona coast. Whiling living on the island, the laborers often thought of home and their queen, Emma Kaleleonālani, and composed a *mele* (chant) to show their affection for their queen. The *mele* was translated by Mary Kawena Pukui in 1937 and again in 1952 and by Marvin Puakea Nogelmeier in 2001. The following version was published in *He Lei no 'Emalani*:

Aia ka nani i Puaka'ilima Kēlā 'ailana noho i ke kai No kai ka makani Pāulukona Ha'iha'i lau lā'au o ka uka No uka ka 'iwa i kiani mai Ke hea mai nei lā i ku'u kino I naue paha wau me ku'u hoa Me ku'u komo kaimana i ka la'i Ha'ina ka inoa i lohe Ke Kuini 'Emalani he inoa. The beauty is there at Puaka'ilima
That island that dwells in the sea
From the sea comes the Pāulukona wind
Crackling the branches of the shoreland regions
From the highlands the frigate bird glides and wheels
Beckoning to my person
That I should perhaps move along with my
panion

With my diamond ring in the serene calm Tell of the name, that it be heard Queen Emmalani, a name song.

(Nogelmeier 2001, 25)

The island was discovered in 1818 by Captain Elisha Folger of the Nantucket ship Equator and was given the name New Nantucket. It was also referred to as New Nantucket in 1825 by Captain Obed Starbuck of the Nantucket whaleship Loper. In 1832, Captain Michael Baker of the whaler Gideon Howland visited and named the island after himself. He landed on the island again on August 14, 1839, raised the American flag, and claimed the island for the United States. During the same trip, he buried an American seaman and while digging the grave site he discovered guano deposits. On September 1, 1855, Captain Michael Baker sold his interest to the island to the American Guano Company. The island was bonded under the Guano Islands Act of 1856. In 1857, agents of the American Guano Company, Arthur Benson and Charles H. Judd, asserted the company's claim on the island. In August 1857, Charles Henry Davis of the USS sloop St. Mary's surveyed and made formal claim to the island in the name of the United States. The island was visited by many whalers as a stopping ground for food, such as seabird eggs, and to exchange news with other whalers. The following report from the *Pacific Commercial Advertiser* on July 3, 1869, describes a box used by passing whalemen to leave papers, letters, and log-books inside: Previous to its coming into the possession of its present owners, it was occasionally visited by ships, chiefly sperm whalers, which frequent these waters. A weather-beaten piece of timber, firmly planted in the ground, and bearing a rude but secure letter box, still stands, like a beacon, upon the most prominent part of the island. For many years it served as a seaport office—a sort of news exchange or station, where passing vessels left papers, letters and log-books, and thus received, now and then, crumbs of intelligence from the great world from which they had been so long shut out. The island was considered the most dangerous of all the guano islands, where many vessels have been lost, including the Asterion, E. H. Taylor, Minehaha, Seaman's Bride, Lady Washington, St. Charles, Mattapan, Robinson, Mary L. Sutton,

Shaftsbury, Mattie Banks, Nettie Brooks, Liebig, and Napier. British ship Virginia, commanded by Captain Jairus Withers, struck the island's reef on May 16, 1859, while searching for the guano islands. On May 21, the captain, first officer, steward, five apprentices, and two crew members took a longboat to Fiji to get help while 14 seamen remained on the island for 10 weeks. On July 13, the brig Josephine arrived at the island and rescued the 14 seamen, however, it is unknown what happened to the longboat and its passengers. An account of the shipwreck was reported by G. W. Kaluahine and published in Ka Hae Hawaii on August 24, 1859.

Haalele makou ia aina, holo mai i Puakailima, oia ka aina, a i ka la 14 o Iulai ike makou ia Puakailima. Ia wa, ike makou i kekahi mea hou, oia hoi he moku ili, no Beretania mai, i holo mai i ke kuake manu, aole nae i loaa ka lakou mea i holo mai ai. Ua ili ko lakou moku i ka malama o Mei i ka la 17, oia ka wa i ili ai. O ke kumu o ka ili ana, ua pau na mea maluna o ka moku i ka ona i ka rama, a ua lele iuka ke kapena e nana i ke kukae manu, a hoi mai, ua pau na luina oluna i ka ona i ka rama. Kahea aku ke Kapena e huki i ka waapa iluna, aole nae i hiki i luna, kahea hou ke kapena, ia wa no o ka wa ia ili ai ka moku. Ke waiho nei ke kino o ka moku i Puakailima nei. Ua hoi aku ka poe nona ka moku maluna o Josephine.

We departed that land and sailed to Puakailima, (that land) which we saw on the 14th day of July, Puakailima. It was then that we saw something new, mainly a stranded boat from Britain that had sailed here for guano which was not obtained when they came. Their ship had gone aground in the month of May, on the 17th. This was when it ran aground. The reason for the grounding was that (those) aboard ship were drunk with rum, and the captain had gone inland to look for guano, and when he returned, all the sailors were drunk (with rum). The captain called out to hoist the rowboat, however, it was not hoistened. The captain called again and that was when the ship went aground. The hull of the boat was left at Puakailima. The crew went home on the *Josephine*.

(Johnson 1976, 146-147)

On August 30, 1869, the American ship *Robin Hood*, commanded by Captain Taylor, was in flames while carrying 412 tons of guano. The captain in charge of the island and 40 natives immediately boarded the ship and poured water all over the ship. Four crew members were arrested by the United States Consul for setting the ship on fire. One account of the incident was reported in *The Pacific Commercial Advertiser* on December 25, 1869.

At 12 N., no flame could be discovered which led to the belief that the fire was in the hold. At 4 P.M., the between decks were heard to fall in. At 6 P.M., the fire broke out about ten feet from the stern post and just above the copper. The fire was now raging fearfully and the after part of the ship was a mere shell. Cut the standing rigging from the fore and main masts and sent it ashore. In a few minutes the flames broke through the poop deck and soon after wrapped about the whole afterpart of the ship. Being fearful that the spars might fall, ordered all hands into the boats and ordered the moorings slipt. At about 6 P.M., all hands left the ship and she was soon on fire fore and aft, the masts falling in. At 12 midnight she was burned to the water's edge and was slowly drifting to the westward. (Ward 1966, 1:281-282)

American guano companies abandoned operations on the island in the 1880s, however, British guano companies continued mining. The British firm John T. Arundel and Co. established their headquarters on the island for their guano digging enterprise in the central Pacific between 1886 and 1891. The island was reportedly abandoned in 1910, as the guano supply was exhausted. The *Whippoorwill* Expedition surveyed the island in 1924 and found old deep sea moorings, remains of a pier, walls of coral stone buildings, boilers and buoys, and wooden headboards which indicated remains of a graveyard. When the *Whippoorwill*

left, the island was deserted until 1935 when young men known as the Hui Panalā'au occupied the island for the United States.

JARVIS ISLAND || PAUKEAHO

During the late 1850s, Hawaiian guano laborers named the island *Paukeaho*, meaning 'out of breath' or 'exhausted,' which described their experience and working conditions. In a letter published in *Ka Hae Hawaii* on August 24, 1859, G. W. Kaluahine describes the work environment on the island.

I ka la 28 o Mei, 1859, holo mai makou mai Honolulu mai, eono o makou la ma ka moana, a i ka hiku o ka la, oia ka la 4 o Iune, ike makou ia Paukeaho, he aina haahaa loa keia ke nana aku, e noho ana ilaila o Kale, Livai me na kanaka he 50, he poe hana kukae manu keia poe. Hookahi moku kalepa e ku ana, a he mau mouo ekolu i mea e hoopaa ai i na moku, a he wahi wapo maikai, i mea e hooili ai i na kukae manu, holo no hoi ka hana o ka poe kanaka o Kale. Ka nui o na kanaka he 80. E hiki no i keia poe kanaka he kanawalu ke hana i 2,640 paiki i ka la hookahi. Nui no ka ai me ka wai, mai Honolulu mai e lawe ia mai ai, maluna mai o Josephine. [...] O ka aina, he wahi aina uuku no; ina e ku aku a nana ma kekahi aoao, ike ia aku no ke poi mai ka nalu. He aina wela loa keia, e like me Kawaihae ma Hawaii. O ka makani mai ka moana mai ka mea i olu iki ai keia aina.

On the 28th of May, 1859, we sailed from Honolulu. We were six days at sea, and on the seventh day, the fourth of June, we saw Paukeaho, a very low land when looked at. Kale, Livai and 50 other people were living there. These were people who worked with guano. One clipper ship would anchor and there were three buoys to which the boats could tie up. It was a good wharf so that guano could be loaded. The work of Kale's people went very fast. The number of workers were about 80. These 80 people could complete 2,640 bags per day. Lots of food and water are brought from Honolulu on the ship, *Josephine*. [...] Concerning the land, it is a small island. If you stand

looking (across it) to the (other side), breakers can be seen. This is a very hot land, like Kawaihae on Hawaii. The wind from the sea is what cools the land. (Johnson 1976, 146-147)

Jarvis Island was first sighted on August 21, 1821 by Captain Matthew Brown of the British whaler *Eliza Francis*, who claimed the barren and uninhabited island for Great Britain. The island was named after the owners of the vessel, Edward, Thomas, and William Jarvis. It was also called Brock, Brook, Bunker, Jervis, and Bunker Island and some of these names appear on nautical charts published before 1821. On January 20, 1825, the British South Seas whaler *Mary*, commanded by Captain Edward Reed Lacy, was lost on the island while carrying 1,800 barrels of sperm oil. The crew was rescued by two whaling ships after being stranded on the island for 6 weeks. On May 25, the ship's fittings and gear were salvaged by the New Bedford whaler, *Minerva Smyth*. Two additional shipwrecks, the *Silver Star* and *Amaranth*, were found on the island on November 10, 1860 and August 30, 1913, respectively.

In 1835, Captain Michael Baker of the whale ship *Braganza* landed and claimed the island for the United States. He kept the British name Jarvis even after American sovereignty was firmly established. In 1836 and 1845 he visited the island again, and while searching for seabird eggs, he discovered large deposits of guano.

It was the resort of myriads of birds. Its surface presents a stony formation, which has since proven to be Guano, as per analysis annexed. The island is perfectly barren and sterile. Said island can be seen from the deck of a ship a distance of from ten to twenty miles, while the birds may be found further distant. (*Report to the Stockholders* 1857, 21)

The island was surveyed on December 20, 1840, by Lieutenant Charles Wilkes during the U.S. Exploring Expedition. Aboard the *Peacock* and *Flying Fish*, Lieutenant Wilkes (1849, 4) positioned the island at lat 0°22′33″ S, long 159°54′11″ W with the following report:

This is a small coral island, triangular in shape, a mile and three-fourths in length east and west, and a mile wide north and south. It exhibits the appearance of a white sand-beach, ten or twelve feet above the sea, without a tree or shrub, and but a few patches of grass. The sea breaks violently around its shores, but no reef extends to any distance from the island, which may be closely approached. A few sea-birds were seen about the island. No landing could be attempted, the surf being too heavy. Captain Hudson considers this a dangerous island for navigators. The American Guano Company claimed the island on October 28, 1856 under the Guano Islands Act. The company sent Arthur Benson and Charles Judd aboard the Hawaiian schooner Liholiho to take possession of the island and written declarations of possession were left on the island on January 16, 1857. In August 1857, the USS St. Mary's, under Commander Charles Henry Davis, surveyed and made formal claim in the name of the United States. Shipping entrepreneur Samuel Gardner Wilder charted the clipper White Swallow to carry the first-ever cargo of guano from Jarvis Island to New York in 1858. Wilder lived in a house on the island and was later joined by his wife Elizabeth Kīna'u Judd, her sister Laura Judd and brother Charles Judd. A letter written by Laura recounted a burial service that occurred on the island and also noted of a burial place with tombstones for at least twelve graves. Then forming in procession, with all the natives in the rear, they would their way along the beach, pausing about a quarter of a mile to the southwest of our door, where the grave stood ready for its occupant. We four took a nearer path, and stood within hearing as the Captain read in a clear, but at times slightly tremulous, voice the burial service. You know how beautiful it is. The men all appeared solemn, and as one stepped forward with the shovel of earth, the Captain, taking a handful, threw it in upon the coffin; two of them seemed much affected, and shed tears. (Wight 1909, 123-124)

It is not clear when the American guano companies left the island; however, it is noted that they abandoned the island by 1889 when the island was annexed to Great Britain on June 3, by Commander Nichols of the HMS *Cormorant*. Following the annexation, a British phosphate company took possession of the island, but it is unknown if the company actually occupied the island or commenced guano mining operations. In 1924, the *Whippoorwill* Expedition surveyed the island and observed two coral platforms which were found to be modern tombs and a wooden plank with the following inscription:

"To the memory of Capt. Alex. Aliny, 1st assistant of Jarvis Island, who died May 15, 1873, from injuries by being thrown from a car" (Emory [1934] 1971, 24).

The next significant visit to the island took place in 1935 when the Hui Panalā'au landed and established permanent U.S. claim.

Bibliography

The collection of sources that make up the following bibliography include newspaper articles, letter correspondence, books, navigational directories and pilot guides, dictionaries, expedition reports, government documents and records, journal entries, manuscripts and mele. To effectively navigate the bibliography, these sources have been organized by Monument location.

SOURCES LISTED BY MONUMENT LOCATION

Sources applicable to multiple monument locations

Brigham WT. 1900. Index to the Islands of the Pacific Ocean: A Handbook to the Chart on the Walls of the Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum of Polynesian Ethnology and Natural History. Honolulu, HI: Bishop Museum Press.

Bryan, EH, Jr. 1942. American Polynesia and the Hawaiian Chain. Honolulu, HI: Tongg.

Coulter JW. 1935. *A Gazetteer of the Territory of Hawaii*. University of Hawai'i Research Publication No. 11, 199. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i. Ulukau.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1889. "British annexation." August 20, 1889. University of Hawai'i eVols, http:// hdl.handle.net/10524/9679.

Emory KP. (1934) 1971. *Archaeology of the Pacific Equatorial Islands*. Bishop Museum Bulletin 123, Whippoorwill Expedition Publication No. 4. Honolulu, HI: Bishop Museum. Reprint, New York: Kraus Reprint Co. Citations refer to the Kraus edition.

Findlay A. 1870. A Directory for the Navigation of the North Pacific Ocean. 2nd ed. London: Richard Holmes Laurie.

Great Britain Hydrographic Office, Admiralty. 1900. Pacific Islands, Vol. III (Eastern Groups) Sailing Directions. 3rd ed. London: Eyre and Spottiswoode. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/bub_gb_IwqwAAAAMAAJ.

Great Britain Hydrographic Office, Admiralty. 1908. *Pacific Islands, Vol. II (Central Groups) Sailing Directions*. 4th ed. London: Eyre and Spottiswoode.

Green FJ. ed. 1941. Thrum's Hawaiian Annual combined with All About Hawaii, 1940-1941.

Honolulu, HI: Star-Bulletin Press.

Hawaiian Dictionaries, n.d. Ulukau: Hawaiian Electronic Library. Accessed October 1, 2018. <a href="http://ulukau.org/index.php?a=p&advanced=false&p=home&st=universal&stAuthors=&stTitles=&stUniversal=&sub=1&cl=&l=en&wp="http://ulukau.org/index.php?a=p&advanced=false&p=home&st=universal&stAuthors=&stTitles=&stUniversal=&sub=1&cl=&l=en&wp=.

Hawaiian Star (Honolulu). 1905. "Biggest County on Earth is Oahu." August 23, 1905. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/24694.

Howland CP. 1930. "Islands of the Pacific." In *Survey of American Foreign Relations*, 274-314. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/surveyofamerican 031777mbp.

Hutchinson GE. 1950. "Survey of Contemporary Knowledge of Biogeochemistry." *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* 96. American Museum of Natural History: Research Library: Digital Repository, http://hdl.handle.net/2246/918.

Kōmike Hua'ōlelo, ed. 2003. *Mamaka Kaiao: A Modern Hawaiian Vocabulary*. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Leff DN. 1940. Uncle Sam's Pacific Islets. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Magier S and LM. 2012. A Brief History of Human Activities in the US Pacific Remote Islands. Glen Ellen, CA: Marine Conservation Institute.

Maude HE. 1968. Of Islands and Men. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

Minot G and Sanger GP. ed. (1859) 1964. United States Statutes at Large. Vol 11. Boston:

Little, Brown and Company. Reprint, Buffalo NY: Dennis & Co. See esp. "Public Acts of the Thirty-Fourth Congress of the United States, Guano Islands." https://www.loc.gov/law/help/statutes-at-large/34th-congress/c34.pdf.

Morris PC. 1934. "How the Territory of Hawaii Grew and What Domain It Covers." In *Forty-Second* Annual Report of the Hawaiian Historical Society for the year 1933, 13-19. Honolulu: Hawaiian Historical Society. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/63.

Olson SL. 1996. "History and Ornithological Journals of the Tanager Expedition of 1923 to the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands, Johnston and Wake Islands." *Atoll Research Bulletin*, no. 443, 22-118. Washington DC: Smithsonian Institution. University of Hawai'i eVols, https://doi.org/10.5479/si.00775630.433.1.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1858. "Memoranda: Captain Stone." August 26, 1858. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/36642.

Pukui MK and Korn AL. 1973. The Echo of Our Song: Chants & Poems of the Hawaiians. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Reed SF and Supreme Court of The United States. 1946. *U.S. Reports: United States v. Fullard Leo*, 331 U.S. 256 (1946). Periodical. https://www.loc.gov/item/usrep331256/.

Richards R. 2017. Bold Captains: Trans-Pacific Exploration and Trade, 1780-1830. Vol 2. Wellington, NZ: Paremata Press.

Rogers ES. 1933. *The Sovereignty of Guano Islands in Pacific Ocean*. Washington DC: US Department of State, Office of the Legal Advisor. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/54209.

Rosser WH. 1870. North Pacific Pilot Part II: The Seaman's Guide to the Islands of the North Pacific. London: James Imray and Son, Minories and Tower Hill.

Sharp A. 1960. The Discovery of the Pacific Islands. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Spennemann DHR. 1998. Excessive exploitation of Central Pacific seabird populations at the turn of the 20th century. *Marine Ornithology*, 26: 49-57, http://marineornithology.org/PDF/26/26 8.pdf.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1859. "Guano Islands Discovered." April 20, 1859. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1227.

Tudor J. 1972. Pacific Islands Year Book. 11th ed. Sydney: Pacific Publications.

US Congress. 1976. United States Code: Guano Islands, 48 U.S.C. §§ 1411-1419. Periodical. Library of Congress, https://www.loc.gov/item/uscode1976-011048008/.

US Congress. 1976. *United States Code: Hawaii, 48 U.S.C. §§ 491-724*. Periodical. Library of Congress, https://www.loc.gov/item/uscode1976-011048003/.

US General Accounting Office. 1997. GAO/OGC-98-5 - U.S. Insular Areas: Application of the U.S. Constitution. Legislative Agency Publications, GAO Reports and Comptroller General Decisions.

Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GAOREPORTS-OGC-98-5/pdf/GAOREPORTS-OGC-98-5.pdf.

US Hydrographic Office. 1916. H.O. No. 166 - Pacific Islands Pilot, Volume II (Eastern Groups). Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/pacificislandsp00offigoog.

Ward RG. ed. 1966-67. American Activities in the Central Pacific, 1790-1870. Vol. 1, 2, 3 and 5. Ridgewood, NJ: Gregg Press.

Wilkes C. 1845. Narrative of the United States Exploring Expedition During the Year 1838-1842. Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Lea & Blanchard. Biodiversity Heritage Library, https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.69333.

Wilkes C. 1858. United States Exploring Expedition During the Years 1838-1842, Atlas of Charts Vol II. Philadelphia: C. Sherman and Son.

Wilkes C. 1861. United States Exploring Expedition During the Years 1838-1842, Vol. 23, Hydrography. Philadelphia: C. Sherman.

Wake Atoll, Eneen-Kio

Anderson J. 1973. "Wake Island Claimed By Marshall Islanders." *The Cameron Herald*, February 8, 1973. Newspapers.com,

https://www.newspapers.com/clip/3864881/wake island claimed by marshall islands/.

Bryan EH Jr. 1959. "Notes on the Geography and Natural History of Wake Island." *Atoll Research Bulletin*, no. 66, 1-22. Washington DC: The Pacific Science Board. Smithsonian Libraries, https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/6095/00066.pdf.

Hawaiian Star (Honolulu). 1902. "Japs Have Island." August 26, 1902. Honolulu Star Advertiser, https://staradvertiser.newspapers.com/image/79785148/.

Heine D, and Anderson JA. 1971. "Enen-kio Island of the Kio Flower." *Micronesian Reporter*, 34-37.

Honolulu Star-Bulletin (Honolulu). 1938. "Wake, the Perfect Island." May 7, 1938. Newspapers.com, https://www.newspapers.com/newspage/275000256/.

Junghans EA. n.d. Wake Island, 1568-1946. 28 leaves. Verifax copy available at the University of Hawai'i.

Lossing BJ and Wilson W. 1915. Harper's Encyclopedia of United States History from 458 A.D. to 1915. New York and London: Harper & Brothers.

Maly K and Maly O. 2003. "Nā Moku 'Aha (The Northwestern Hawaiian Islands) Oral History Consultation Interview with Kūpuna - Louis "Buzzy" Agard, Valentine Ako, Elizabeth Ako, John Dudoit, Eddie Nāmakani Ka'anā'anā, E. Kāwika Kapahulehua, and Walter Keli'iokekai Paulo." In Ka hana lawai'a a me nā ko'a o na kai 'ewalu (A history of fīshing practices and marine fīsheries of the *Hawaiian Islands*). Vol. 2: 1233. Hilo: Kumu Pono Associates. Ulukau,

http://www.ulukau.org/elib/collect/maly2/index/assoc/D0.dir/doc1621.pdf.

McAllaster W and Davidson J. 2011. Wake Island (Wake Island National Historic Landmark). Washington DC: Historic American Landscapes Survey. Library of Congress, http://lcweb2.loc.gov/master/pnp/habshaer/um/um0000/um0061/data/um0061data.pdf.

Merlin M, Capelle A, Keene T, Juvik J, and Maragos J. 1994. *Plants and Environments of the Marshall Islands*. Chicago: John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation.

n.a. 1989. "Wake: The northern-most Marshall Island." In *Marshall Islands Guidebook*, 64. Micronitor News & Printing Company.

Rogers ES. 1932. The Sovereignty of The Northwest Hawaiian Islands, Midway Island, and Wake Island, in the *North Pacific*. Washington DC: US Department of State, Office of the Legal Advisor. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/54209.

Spennemann DHR. 1998. "Japanese Economic Exploitation of Central Pacific Seabird Populations, 1898-1915." *Pacific Studies*, 21 (1/2):1-41. Research Gate.

United States Navy Hydrographic Office. 1916. *Pacific Islands Pilot, Volume 1 (Western Groups)*. Washington DC: Government Printing Office. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/pacificislandsp01offigoog.

Johnston Atoll, Kalama & Cornwallis

Amerson Jr. AB and Shelton PC. 1976. "The Natural History of Johnston Atoll, Central Pacific Ocean." *Atoll Research Bulletin*, no. 192. Washington DC: Smithsonian Institution. Available online from the Biodiversity Heritage Library.

Bauer LCDR LR. 1965. "Historical Report of Johnston Atoll, 1796-1964." Reproduced in *Historical Report of Johnston Atoll*, prepared by Logistics Planning Group, Holmes & Narver. 1974. Washington, DC: Atomic Energy Commission: Defense Nuclear Agency. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/56828.

Brooke Jr. GM. ed. 1986. John M. Brooke's Pacific Cruise and Japanese Adventure, 1858-1860. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "Annexation." July 25, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7043.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "The Legislature: forty-ninth day." July 26, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7044.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "In the Legislature to-day..." July 29, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7047.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "The Legislature: fifty-second day." July 30, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7048.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "Coaling Stations" and "Johnston Island." August 11, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7057.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1892. "The New York Herald..." September 26, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7095.

Hawaii State Archives, David L. Gregg Collection, Diaries, M-166, Vol. 10, December 23, 1858.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Land File, Box No. 72, 1858, May.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Letterbooks, No. 7 A, p. 151, 156, 161, 163, 171-172, 174-179.

Hawaii State Archives, Privy Council Records, Series No. 421, Vol. 10, p. 238.

Hawaiian Star. 1894. "Johnston's Island." May 26, 1894. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/20697.

Hawaiian Star. 1894. "Hawaiian Annexations." May 29, 1894. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/20699.

Hawaiian Star. 1905. "Are After Guano." February 15, 1905. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/24530.

Hawaiian Star. 1905. "Iwalani's Return." February 25, 1905. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/24539.

Hoes, RR. 1892. "Hawaiian Territory." *Daily Bulletin* (Honolulu), July 26, 1892. University of Hawaii eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7044.

Krusenstern AJ. 1813. Voyage round the world in the years 1803, 1804, 1805, & 1806... Vol. 1. Translated by Richard Belgrave Hoppner. London: Printed by C. Roworth, Bell-yard, Temple-bar. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/cihm 39353.

Marshall J. 1827. *Royal Naval Biography*. Suppl. Vol. 1. London: Printed for Longman, Rees, Orme, Brown, and Green. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/royalnavalbiosupp01marsuoft.

National Herald: Ka Ahailono a ka Lahui (Honolulu). 1890. "Local Notes." January 13, 1890. Ulukau: Hawaiian Electronic Library: Hawaiian Nūpepa Collection.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1858. "Thursday, September 30." September 30, 1858. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/36647.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1859. "Johnston's Islands." October 8, 1859. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/36704.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1859. "Arrival of the Mail!" May 19, 1859. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/36680.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1870. "Annexation." July 9, 1870. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/37310.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1900. "A Cable to Hawaii." August 1, 1900. University of Hawaiii eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/42421.

Perriman R. 1892. "Johnston Island." *Daily Bulletin* (Honolulu), September 8, 1892. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7080.

Polynesian (Honolulu). 1858. "By Authority." July 31, 1858. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015408/1858-07-31/ed-1/seq-2/.

Thurston LA. 1928. "Johnston Wreck Identified." *Honolulu Advertiser*, August 26, 1928. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Palmyra Atoll and Kingman Reef: A shared shipwreck perspective

Bryan Jr. EH. 1937. "Palmyra---Part of Hawaii." *Paradise of the Pacific* (Honolulu), May, 1937, 13.

Daily Bulletin. (Honolulu). 1888. "Wreck of the British Bark 'Henry James'." June 2, 1888. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82016412/1888-06-02/ed-1/seq-3/.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). "Wreck of the British Bark 'Henry James': A Fuller Account." June 4, 1888. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/15766.

Daily Bulletin Weekly Summary (Honolulu). 1888. "Rewarded." September 4, 1888. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/6599.

Daily Bulletin (Honolulu). 1888. "Presentation and Banquet to Captain H. M. Hayward, S.S. Mariposa." December 26, 1888. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/6709.

Godfrey F. 1893. "The Bishop's Search." *The Hawaiian Gazette*, March 14, 1893. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025121/1893-03-14/ed-1/seq-8/.

Hawaiian Gazette. 1899. "Reminiscence of the Lampson." September 29, 1899. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/4183.

Hawaii Holomua. 1894. "Farewell 'Bishop'." February 1, 1894, second edition. Papakilo.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1893. "A Total Loss." February 14, 1893. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/40211.

Padgett JL. 1937. "Kingman Reef Becomes American." *Paradise of the Pacific* (Honolulu), May, 1937, 9.

Smith, D. 1874. Letter to the editor. The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu), September 4, 1874. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1416.

Smith P and Lattimore R. 1888. "Shipwreck on the Pacific." *Pacific Commercial Advertiser* (Honolulu), June 2, 1888. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/38780.

Sydney Morning Herald. 1888. "The Wreck of the Henry James." June 11, 1888. Trove: National Library of Australia, http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-page1390842.

The Week (Brisbane). 1893. "Wreck at Palmyra Island." April 28, 1893. Trove: National Library of Australia, http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-page20929317.

Palmyra Atoll, Honuaiākea

Edgell, J. A. 1951. "Arthur Mostyn Field, 1855-1950" *Obituary Notices of Fellows of the Royal Society* 7, no. 20 (November): 355-358. https://www.jstor.org/stable/769024.

Evening Bulletin (Honolulu). 1897. "Will Hold Palmyra Island" and "Penguin Soundings." August 11, 1897. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/7973.

Evening Bulletin. (Honolulu). 1897. "Palmyra Island." August 14, 1897. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82016413/1897-08-14/ed-1/seq-5/.

Evening Bulletin (Honolulu). 1897. "England's Latest Scoop." August 12, 1897. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82016413/1897-08-12/ed-1/seq-1/.

Field, Captain Arthur Mostyn. 1898. Report on Palmyra and Fanning Islands as to their Suitability and Capabilities as Submarine Cable Stations. London: Eyre and Spottiswoode. http://atlantic-cable.com/Cables/1902PacificGB/index.htm.

Garden Island (Lihue, Kaua'i). 1921. "Mengs Short of Food on Palmyra." October 4, 1921. Palmyra Atoll Digital Archive, http://palmyraarchive.org/items/show/70.

Hanapī, Hikoʻulā. 2003. "E Huaka'i Pele! (Pele Travels!)" 'Ōiwi: A Native Hawaiian Journal 3, (Huliau): 104.

Hawaii State Archives, Foreign Office and Executive, Letterbooks, Series No. 410, Vol. 80, p. 561-563, 564.

Hawaii State Archives, Governor's Files: Walter Francis Frear, Miscellaneous File, Box No. GOV3-11, Palmyra Island.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Land File, Box No. 75, 1862, March 1-Palmyra Island.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Letterbooks, No. 7 B, p. 376-377.

Hawaiian Gazette. 1912. "Contest Cooper's Claim to Palmyra." May 3, 1912. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025121/1912-05-03/ed-1/seq-1/.

Hawaiian Star. 1897. "South Sea Land Grabbing." July 16, 1897. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/19610.

Hawaiian Star. 1897. "Palmyra Island Again." July 24, 1897. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/19617.

Hawaiian Star. 1897. "Palmyra Island Again." August 12, 1897. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/19633.

Honolulu Star Bulletin. 1940. "Navy's Interest Recalls Tales of Palmyra Treasure." February 17, 1940. Palmyra Atoll Digital Archive, http://palmyraarchive.org/items/show/77.

Honolulu Star-Bulletin. 1913. "Palmyra Isle Land of Wonders." August 15, 1913. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82014682/1913-08-15/ed-1/seq-1/.

Howay FW. 1933. "Captain Cornelius Sowle on the Pacific." *Washington Historical Quarterly* 24, no 4 (October): 243-249. http://journals.lib.washington.edu/index.php/WHO/article/view/8691/7726.

Jacob W and Sowle C. 1805. "Correspondence." In *The Naval Chronicle for 1805*. Vol 12. London: I. Gold, Shoe-Lane. Palmyra Atoll Digital Archive, http://palmyraarchive.org/items/show/95.

Johnson JW. Digital curator. n.d. "Exhaustive List of Events." Palmyra Atoll Digital Archive. Accessed September 26, 2018. http://www.palmyraarchive.org/full-timeline.

Lucett E. 1851. *Rovings in the Pacific, from 1837-1849*. Vol. 2. London: Longman, Brown, Green and Longmans. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/rovingsinpacifi01lucgoog.

McClennan EN. 1940. "Under Three Flags-Palmyra Island." *Paradise of the Pacific* (Honolulu), May, 1940, 23-24.

New Zealand Herald. 1912. "Palmyra Island." April 12, 1912. Papers Past: National Library of New Zealand, https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/NZH19120412.2.147

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1862. "Annexation- Where's the Secretary of War?" June 26, 1862. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1862-06-26/ed-1/seq-2/.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1897. "Has Prior Claim." August 13, 1897. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn85047084/1897-08-13/ed-1/seq-5/. Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1903. "Something About Palmyra Island." August 14, 1903.

Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn85047084/1903-08-14/ed-1/seq-8/.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1897. "Palmyra Again." August 14, 1897. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/41593.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1894. "Back From a Long Voyage." October 31, 1894. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/40739.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1885. "Shipping Notes." December 12, 1885. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/38053.

Polynesian (Honolulu). 1862. "Addition to the Hawaiian Domain." June 21, 1862. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015408/1862-06-21/ed-1/seq-2/.

Rock JF. 1916. *Palmyra Island With a Description of its Flora*. College of Hawaii Publications Bulletin No. 4: 3-28. Honolulu: College of Hawaii. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/23293.

Skerrett, JS. 1874. Report to Secretary of the Navy by J. S. Skerrett, Commander of the USS Portsmouth, *February 5*, 1874. 20 leaves. Photocopy of handwritten report located at the University of Hawaii.

Smithsonian Institution Archives, Accession 84-182, "Journal of the U.S.S. Portsmouth, 1873-1874." Available online from Palmyra Digital Archive, http://www.palmyraarchive.org/items/show/44.

The Star (Christchurch). 1902. "Islands Without Owners." July 19, 1902. Papers Past: National Library of New Zealand, https://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/newspapers/TS19020719.2.7.

Walker Captain FD. 1914. "Pirates' Buried Bullion May Be Found on Palmyra Island." *Sun* (New York), February 1, 1914. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83030272/1914-02-01/ed-1/seq-36/.

Kingman Reef, Nalukākala

Fanning E. 1833. *Voyages Round the World*. New York: Collins and Hannay.

Ferries JS. 1874. "Report of American and Australian M. S. S. Tartar." *The Friend* Newspaper (Honolulu), July 7, 1874. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1414.

Green, Commander. 1872. "Kingman's Reef." *The Friend* Newspaper (Honolulu), October 2, 1872. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1392.

Hawaii State Archives, Kingman's Reef (Island), Artifact #202, Bottles Containing Records.

Honolulu Advertiser. 1922. "U.S. Flag Over New Island." May 22, 1922. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Honolulu Advertiser. 1922. "Raising Stars and Stripes on Kingman Island" and "Chas. B. Wilson Passed Kingman 57 Years Ago." May 23, 1922. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Honolulu Advertiser. 1926. "Records of Annexation in Archives." July 25, 1926. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Kingman WE. 1855. Letter to the editor, *The Friend* Newspaper (Honolulu), September 29, 1855. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1183.

Macfarlane GW, Bishop J and Smith D. 1874. "The Kingman Reef." *Pacific Commercial Advertiser* (Honolulu), July 4, 1874. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1874-07-04/ed-1/seq-2/.

McClellan EN. 1940. "Kingman Reef of the United States." *Paradise of the Pacific* (Honolulu), March 1940, 13-14.

Paradise of the Pacific (Honolulu) 1937. "Kingman Reef or 'Antipodes Here We Come!" January 1937, 21.

Thurston LA. 1922. "Island at Kingman's Reef was legitimately annexed on behalf of Palmyra Co." *Honolulu Advertiser*, July 15, 1922. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i

Thurston LA. 1926. "Constructive Work, Civilian in Character, By Uncle Sam's Navy." *Honolulu Advertiser*, July 11, 1926. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Howland, Baker and Jarvis Islands: The Monument's guano islands

Beck JM. 1955. *The Phosphate Deposits of the Pacific*. Canberra, AU: Department of National Development, Bureau of Mineral Resources Geology and Geophysics, https://d28rz98at9flks.cloudfront.net/8994/Rec1955_101.pdf.

Ellis AF, CMG, and FRGS. 1937. Adventuring in Coral Seas. Sydney: Angus & Robertson.

Frank SM. 2011. "Naming the Pacific: Howland Island, New Nantucket, Guano, Amelia Earhart, and the Minerva Smyth." *Historic Nantucket*, 61 (3):10-14. Historic Nantucket Association, https://nha.org/research/publications/historic-nantucket/the-whaling-issue/.

Gregg DL. 1857. Dispatches from United States Ministers in Hawaii, 1843-1900. National Archives Microfilm Publications. Hawai'i State Archives, Microcopy No. T30, Roll No. 8, Dispatch No. 208 and No. 209.

Hague JD. 1862. "On the Phosphatic Guano Islands of the Pacific Ocean." *American Journal of Science and Arts*, 34 (101):2-21. Internet Archive, http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.gdc/scd0001.00027564203.

Hague JD. 1902. "Our Equatorial Islands." *The Century Magazine*, 64 (5):653-670. The Unz Review, https://www.unz.com/print/Century-1902sep-00653/.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Land File, Box No. 71, 1857, March 27.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Letterbooks, No. 7 A, p. 84.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Miscellaneous, Box No. 147, 1858, January 15.

Hawaii State Archives, Honolulu Harbormaster, Shipping Articles, Series 89, Box 5, 1864.

Hawaii State Archives, Honolulu Harbormaster, Shipping Articles, Series 89, Box 5, Folder 2, April 5, 1864—December 9, 1864.

Honolulu Advertiser. 1949. "History from Our Files- Seventy Years Ago 1879." September 22, 1949. Microfilm available from University of Hawai'i.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1938. "Nantucket Whalemen Explorers Discovered Pacific Islands." March 12, 1938. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1938. "Whale Ships and Whaling A Pictorial History." December 31, 1938. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1945. "Capt. Starbuck and the Pacific Island of New Nantucket." September 8, 1945. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

[John Williams?] Brief on Baker, Howland and Jarvis Islands. Manuscript, Du Pacific Pam 553, Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Johnson AJ. 1875. Johnson's New Universal Cyclopaedia: A Scientific and Popular Treasury of Useful Knowledge. Vol. 2. New York: A. J. Johnson.

Johnson RK. ed. 1976. Kukini 'Aha'ilono (Carry On The News). Honolulu, HI: Topgallant.

Judd CH. 1930. Fragments V. Honolulu, HI: Honolulu Star-Bulletin.

Judd AF II. ed. 1935. *Fragments VI: The Guano Islands*. Honolulu, HI: Family Records, House of Judd.

Kikiloi SK, Tengan TK, Brown D, Zisk J, Lebo SA, and MKY Noelle. Kahuna. 2002. *Hui Panala 'au*. Brochure. Honolulu: Bishop Museum.

MS Grp 126, D. C. Waterman and Co. Business Correspondence, 1860s. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Polynesian (Honolulu). 1860. "Memoranda: The brig Josephine." September 8, 1860. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015408/1860-09-08/ed-1/seq-2/.

Pukui MK and Elbert SH. 1986. *Hawaiian Dictionary*. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Report to the Stockholders of the American Guano Company. 1857. Brooklyn: Jacobs & Brockway.

Rosenthal G. 2018. Beyond Hawai'i: Native Labor in the Pacific World. Oakland: University of California Press.

Stackpole EA. 1953. *The Sea-Hunters*. New York: Bonanza Books.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1870. "Report Brig Kamehameha V" and "Baker's Island Report." May 1, 1870. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1360.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1871. "Report from Howland's Island" and "Ship Lost at Baker's Island." February 1, 1871. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1370.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1873. "Memoranda: Messrs. C. A. Williams and Co." February 1, 1873. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1397.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1873. "Memoranda" and "Cruise of the U.S.S. 'Narragansett." April 1, 1873. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1399.

The Friend Newspaper (Honolulu). 1874. "Memoranda: Report of Schooner C. M. Ward," "Baker's Island Report" and "Howland's Island Report." February 2, 1874. Hawaiian Mission Houses Digital Archive, https://hmha.missionhouses.org/items/show/1409.

Wight EL. 1909. *The Memoirs of Elizabeth Kinau Wilder*. Honolulu, HI: Paradise of the Pacific Press.

Howland Island, Ulukou

Chilsom W. William Chilsom to D. C. Waterman, October 16, 1862. In D. C. Waterman and Co. Records, 1862-1865. MS Group 126, 10-16-1862 to 10-25-1864. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Gaines JS. 2007. "Pacific Guano Company." *Spritsail: A Journal of the History of Falmouth and Vicinity* 21, no. 2 (Summer):11-15. Woods Hole Historical Collection, http://woodsholemuseum.org/spritsail/pacific guano.pdf.

Hawaii State Archives, Interior Department, Land File, Box No. 75, 1862, December 22.

Hawaiian Gazette. 1878. "Passengers." October 23, 1878. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. https://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025121/1878-10-23/ed-1/seq-3/.

Howland L. 1955. "Howland Island, its birds and rats, as observed by a certain Mr. Stetson in 1854." *Pacific Science* 9 (2): 95-106. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10125/8847.

New York Times. 1865. "The Guano Companies in Litigation." May 3, 1865. TimesMachine, https://www.nytimes.com/1865/05/03/archives/the-guano-companies-in-litigationa-case-of-interest-to-stockholders.html.

New York Times. 1865. "The Title to a Guano Island." June 11, 1865. TimesMachine, https://www.nytimes.com/1865/06/11/archives/the-title-to-a-guano-island-many-millions-of-dollars-involved-in.html.

Pacific Guano Company, 1859-2010. In Register: Pacific Guano Company, 1859-2010, 3 boxes, Artifacts. Woods Hole Historical Collection, http://woodsholemuseum.org/oldpages/archive/PGuanoCo.pdf.

Pacific Guano Company. 1876. The Pacific Guano Company: It's History; Its Products and Trade; Its Relation to Agriculture. Cambridge, MA: Riverside Press. Internet Archive, https://archive.org/details/cu31924081073862.

Penhallow PW. P. W. Penhallow to D.C. Waterman, March 10, 1862. In D. C. Waterman and Co. Records, 1862-1865. MS Grp 126, 3-10-1862 to 1-17-1865. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Penhallow PW. P. W. Penhallow to Messrs. D.C. Waterman and Co., September 11, 1862. In D. C.

Waterman and Co. Records, 1862-1865. MS Grp 126, 3-10-1862 to 1-17-1865. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Trescott WH. 1861. "Notice to Masters and Owners of Ships." *Pacific Commercial Advertiser* (Honolulu), December 26, 1861. University of Hawai'i eVols, http://hdl.handle.net/10524/36873.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2008. *Howland Island National Wildlife Refuge Comprehensive Conservation Plan*. Honolulu, Hawai'i. http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo6350.

Baker Island, Puaka'ilima

Hawaiian Gazette (Honolulu). 1868. "Baker's Island." July 15, 1868. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025121/1868-07-15/ed-1/seq-3/.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1939. "Which Nantucket Island?" September 2, 1939. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1946. "New Nantucket Discovered by Captain Obed Starbuck." December 21, 1946. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

Inquirer and Mirror (Nantucket). 1989. "Nantucket." June 22, 1989. Nantucket Antheneum's Digital Historic Newspaper Archive.

Kahilahilaole. n.d. *Aia ka nani i Puakailima*. Mele Manuscript Collection, H1.M.71., p. 51-52. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Kahilahilaole (composer). 1872. *Aia ka nani i Puakailima*. Hawaiian Ethnological Notes, HEN V. 3, p. 232. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Kois D. 2010. Facing Future. New York: Continuum International Publishing Group.

Nogelmeier MP. ed. 2001. *He Lei no 'Emalani*. Translated by Mary Kawena Pukui, Theodore Kelsey, and M. Puakea Nogelmeier. Honolulu, HI: Queen Emma Foundation and Bishop Museum Press.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1860. "Notes of the Week: Baker's Island." January 26, 1860. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1860-01-26/ed-1/seq-2/.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1860. "Guano Laborers." June 21, 1860. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress. http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1860-06-21/ed-1/seq-2/.

Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1869. "Life On A Guano Island." July 3, 1869. Chronicling America, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1869-07-03/ed-1/seq-4/.

Phillips JF. 1873. "New Nantucket, or Baker's Island." *Appleton's Journal: A magazine of general literature*, May 17, 1873, 653-654. Making of America: University of Michigan, http://quod.lib.umich.edu/m/moajrnl/acw8433.1-09.217/657.

Pukui MK (performer). 1937 and 1952. *Puaka 'ilima*. Mary Kawena Pukui Collection of Hawaiian Chants, 1937, 1952. HAW 10.4, Track 1. Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

Theodore K (composer). n.d. *Kaulana na ailana manu Puakailima me Paukeaho*. Kuluwaimaka Collection, HI.M.51 (Bk. 1). Bishop Museum Archives, Honolulu, Hawai'i.

US Fish and Wildlife Service. 2008. Baker Island National Wildlife Refuge Comprehensive Conservation Plan. Honolulu, Hawai'i. http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo1934.

Jarvis Island, Paukeaho

Blume KJ. 2012. Historical Dictionary of the U.S. Maritime Industry. Lanham: Scarecrow Press.

Burton J. 1833. R v Higgins and others [1833] NSWSupC 6 R. v. Higgins, Fuller, Anderson, Thomas, Belford and Walsh. New South Wales: Macquarie University. http://www.law.mq.edu.au/research/colonial_case_law/nsw/cases/case_index/1833/r_v_higgins and others/.

Closson MH. 1893. "Under the Southern Cross." *Overland Monthly*, February 1893, 205-216. Making of America: University of Michigan, http://quod.lib.umich.edu/m/moajrnl/ahj1472.2-21.122/211.

Jewell Jr. HG. 1961. "The Line Islands with Relation to Hawaii and Map of Jarvis Island." *Hawaiian Shell News*, April, 1961.

http://www.jarvisisland.info/pdf/Hawaiian_Shell_News_April_1961.pdf.

Manuscript Log of the South Seas Whaler 'Mary'. 1823-1825. Museum of London Docklands Collection. Papers.

https://collections.museumoflondon.org.uk/online/object/460377.html.

Nellist GF., ed. 1925. *The Story of Hawaii and Its Builders*. Honolulu, HI: Honolulu Star-Bulletin. https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/handle/10524/56596.

Panton KJ. 2015. *Historical Dictionary of the British Empire*. London: Rowman & Littlefield.

The Pacific Commercial Advertiser (Honolulu). 1858. "The Guano Trade." March 4, 1858. Chronicling America: Historic American Newspapers. Lib. of Congress, http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82015418/1858-03-04/ed-1/seq-1/.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2008. Jarvis Island National Wildlife Refuge Comprehensive Conservation Plan. Honolulu, Hawai'i. http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS122685.

Hawaiian-language Newspaper Sources

Specifically collected from Papakilo and the Hawaiian Nūpepa Collection, these Hawaiian-language newspaper sources remain an essential component of this research and are listed in both chronological and alphabetical order. Translations of these newspaper articles and the incorporation of historic sources and oral interviews directly from nearby island nations have yet to be explored.

SOURCES LISTED IN CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER

- 1858 *Ka Hae Hawaii*. "Ka moku 'Flying Eagle'." August 11, 1858. Kuhalaoa, J. "He palapala mai ka Mokupuni o Jarvis mai." *Ka Hae Hawaii*, November 17, 1858.
- Ka Hae Hawaii. "Eke Leta Hou." February 2, 1859.
 Kaulainamoku, S. W. B., letter to the editor, Ka Hae Hawaii, April 27, 1859.
 Kaluahine, G. W. "No na Aina Kukae Manu." Ka Hae Hawaii, August 24, 1859.
 Ka Hae Hawaii. "Mea hou ma Jarvis Island." November 9, 1859.
 Kaulainamoku, S. W. B. "No ka maikai o na Aina Kukaemanu o G. P. Judd." Ka Hae Hawaii,

December 14, 1859.

- 1861 Kaluahine GW. "Make ma Bakers Island Puakailima." *Ka Hae Hawaii*, August 14, 1861.
- 1862 *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*. "Awa o Honolulu." August 30, 1862. *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*. "Awa o Honolulu." December 20, 1862.
- 1865 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Ka Nu Hou." January 19, 1865.
 Kulika, Kauka. "He Palapala na Kauka Kulika mai." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, April 13, 1865.
 HumphreysW. "Olelo Hoolaha." Ke Au Okoa, August 7, 1865.
 Kailiopio JM. "Na Palapala: Mai Puakailima mai." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, December 23, 1865.
- 1866 Ke Au Okoa. "Mai Ka Lepo Manu Mai." March 19, 1866.
 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Hunahuna Mea Hou o Hawaii Nei:
 Makemake Ia I Kahunapule." April 14, 1866.
 Keakaulani P. "Na mai ma Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 30, 1866.
 Keakaulani P. "No ka Halawai haipule ma Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 30, 1866.
 Kailiopio JM. "Na Palapala: Moolelo o ka Mokupuni Baker's Is. Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa,

July 7, 1866.

Puheekai J. "Nu Hou Kuloko; Makk Emoole." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 25, 1867.
Molia JW. "Kanikau na ka poe o Puakailima (Bakers Is.)." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 25, 1867.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." November 2, 1867.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled; No[]o Ai Ole." November 9, 1867.
Molia JW. "Nu Hou ma Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, November 9, 1867.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." November 16, 1867.

1868 Ke Au Okoa. "Na moku ili ma ka aina lepo manu." January 16, 1868.
Ke Au Okoa. "Mai ka aina lepo manu mai." January 16, 1868.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Ku Ana Mai Ok e Kialua Kamehameha V" and "Hoi Mai I Ka Home." January 18, 1868.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Na moku i ili ma Ulukou a me Puakailima." January 18, 1868.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." February 1, 1868.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Kialua Kamehameha V." July 11, 1868.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Kialua 'Kamehameha V." April 3, 1869.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." June 19, 1869.
Molia JW. "Nuhou! Nuhou!" Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 26, 1869.
Ke Au Okoa. "Ka ili ana o ka moku kalepa Mattie Banks." August 26, 1869.
Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Nahaha ma Puakailima; Ka moku 'Lorenzo." August 28, 1869.
Ke Au Okoa. "Hoowaiiawaha I Ka Aha." September 2, 1869.
Puheekai J. "Mea hou o Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, September 11, 1869.
Molia JW. "Huli hoi ana ma na Ailana." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, October 9, 1869.

Ke Alaula. "Na Aina Lepo Manu." August 1, 1868.

1870 Puheekai J. "Na mea hou o Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, January 1, 1870. Molia JW. "He kanikau aloha no H. K. Haahee." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, July 2, 1870. Puheekai J. "No Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, October 8, 1870. Molia JW. "Hunahuna Mea Hou o Howlands." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, October 22,

1870. Molia JW. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, October 29, 1870.

Ka Manawa. "Ke Kuna C. M. Ward." December 5, 1870.

1871 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." April 1, 1871.
Ke Au Okoa. "Ke Kuna Kamaile." April 20, 1871.
Molia JW. et al. "Ka make ana o George Kukuiehu." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 6,1871.
Molia JW. "Nu Hou Kuloko: He Nuhou!!" Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 13, 1871.
Molia J W. "Na mea hou o Jarvis Isl. (Paukeaho)." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 24, 1871.

Ke Au Okoa. "Na Mea Ho Kuloko: Untitled." July 13, 1871. Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Mai Na Aina Lepo Manu Mai." July 15, 1871. Puheekai J. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ahuwale Hou Na Iwi o Hua I Ka La." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa,

July 22, 1871.

Ke Au Okoa. "Ka haunaele ma Puakailima." September 28, 1871. Molia JW. "Na mea Hou o Jarvis Island." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, September 30, 1871. Ke Au Okoa. "Na Mea Hou Kuloko: Ma ka Poalua." December 7, 1871. Puheekai, J. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Huli Hoi Ana I Honolulu." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, December 23, 1871.

- 1872 Kapule OK. "Na mea hou o Paukeaho." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 2, 1872.
- Niauhoe JWM. "Na Mea Hou o Baker's Island." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 1, 1873.Niauhoe JWM. "Aloha kuu aikane." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 22, 1873.
- 1874 Kailianu GM., et al. "[] Kanaenue Aloha no []." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 22, 1874. *Ko Hawaii Ponoi*. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Make Kekahi Luina Hawaii." January 21, 1874. *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." February 7, 1874.
- 1875 Niauhoe JW. Molia. "Na Mea Hou o Haulani Ailana (Ulukou)." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, May 1, 1875.
- 1876 Kalua S. "No Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 20, 1876.
- 1877 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Na Nu Hou Kuloko: Na Loa O Na Awa Moana." February 3,1877.Ka Lahui Hawaii. "Ka Mokupuni o Poebe (Pipi.)" March 15, 1877.
- 1878 *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." January 5, 1878. Kalua, S. "Moo Pae." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, January 5, 1878.
- 1885 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "He Moolelo Kaao No Keaomelemele." May 23, 1885.
- 1893 Hawaii Holomua. "He 28 La Ma ka Moana." February 14, 1893.
 Nupepa Puka La Kuokoa. "Nou Hou Hawaii." February 14, 1893.
 Ka Leo O Ka Lahui, "Ka Moku poino 'Lady Lampson." February 15, 1893.
 Nupepa Puka La Kuokoa. "Ka Paulo numana Huakai." February 20, 1893.
 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Kela a me Keia." February 25, 1893.
- 1902 Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "U. S. S. Akamu No Onei." October 17, 1902.

SOURCES LISTED IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER

Hawaii Holomua. "He 28 La Ma ka Moana." February 14, 1893.

Humphreys Wm. "Olelo Hoolaha." Ke Au Okoa, August 7, 1865.

Ka Hae Hawaii. "Eke Leta Hou." February 2, 1859.

Ka Hae Hawaii, "Ka moku 'Flying Eagle'." August 11, 1858.

Ka Hae Hawaii. "Mea hou ma Jarvis Island." November 9, 1859.

Ka Lahui Hawaii. "Ka Mokupuni o Poebe (Pipi.)" March 15, 1877.

Ka Leo O Ka Lahui. "Ka Moku poino 'Lady Lampson." February 15, 1893.

Ka Manawa. "Ke Kuna C. M. Ward." December 5, 1870.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Awa o Honolulu." August 30, 1862.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Awa o Honolulu." December 20, 1862.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa "He Moolelo Kaao No Keaomelemele." May 23, 1885.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Hunahuna Mea Hou o Hawaii Nei: Makemake Ia I Kahunapule." April 14, 1866.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Ka Nu Hou." January 19, 1865.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Kela a me Keia." February 25, 1893.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." November 2, 1867.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." February 1, 1868.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Kialua Kamehameha V." June 19, 1869.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ke Ku Ana Mai Ok e Kialua Kamehameha V" and "Hoi Mai I Ka Home." January 18, 1868.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Kialua Kamehameha V." July 11, 1868.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Kialua 'Kamehameha V." April 3, 1869.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Mai Na Aina Lepo Manu Mai." July 15, 1871.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Nahaha ma Puakailima" and "Ka moku 'Lorenzo." August 28, 1869.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." April 1, 1871.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." November 16, 1867.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." February 7, 1874.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." January 5, 1878.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled" and "No[]o Ai Ole." November 9, 1867.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Na Nu Hou Kuloko: Na Loa O Na Awa Moana." February 3, 1877.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "Na moku i ili ma Ulukou a me Puakailima." January 18, 1868.

Ka Nupepa Kuokoa. "U. S. S. Akamu No Onei." October 17, 1902.

Kailianu GM. et al. "[] Kanaenue Aloha no []." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 22, 1874.

Kailiopio JM. "Na Palapala: Mai Puakailima mai." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, December 23, 1865.

Kailiopio JM. "Na Palapala: Moolelo o ka Mokupuni Baker's Is. Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*,

July 7, 1866.

Kalua, S. "Moo Pae." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, January 5, 1878.

Kalua, S. "No Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 20, 1876.

Kaluahine GW. "Make ma Bakers Island Puakailima." *Ka Hae Hawaii*, August 14, 1861.

Kaluahine GW. "No na Aina Kukae Manu." Ka Hae Hawaii, August 24, 1859.

Kapule OK. "Na mea hou o Paukeaho." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 2, 1872.

Kaulainamoku SWB. letter to the editor, *Ka Hae Hawaii*, April 27, 1859.

Kaulainamoku SWB. "No ka maikai o na Aina Kukaemanu o G. P. Judd." Ka Hae Hawaii,

December 14, 1859.

Ke Alaula. "Na Aina Lepo Manu." August 1, 1868.

Ke Au Okoa. "Na Mea Ho Kuloko: Untitled." July 13, 1871.

Ke Au Okoa. "Na moku ili ma ka aina lepo manu." January 16, 1868.

Ke Au Okoa. "Hoowaiiawaha I Ka Aha." September 2, 1869.

Ke Au Okoa. "Ka haunaele ma Puakailima." September 28, 1871.

Ke Au Okoa. "Ka ili ana o ka moku kalepa Mattie Banks." August 26, 1869.

Ke Au Okoa. "Mai ka aina lepo manu mai." January 16, 1868.

Ke Au Okoa. "Mai Ka Lepo Manu Mai." March 19, 1866.

Ke Au Okoa. "Ke Kuna Kamaile." April 20, 1871.

Keakaulani P. "Na mai ma Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, June 30, 1866.

Keakaulani P. "No ka Halawai haipule ma Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, June 30, 1866.

Ko Hawaii Ponoi. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Make Kekahi Luina Hawaii." January 21, 1874.

Kuhalaoa J. "He palapala mai ka Mokupuni o Jarvis mai." *Ka Hae Hawaii*, November 17,1858.

Kulika Kauka. "He Palapala na Kauka Kulika mai." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, April 13, 1865.

Molia JW. "He kanikau aloha no H. K. Haahee." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, July 2, 1870.

Molia JW. "Kanikau na ka poe o Puakailima (Bakers Is.)." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, May 25, 1867.

Molia JW. "Huli hoi ana ma na Ailana." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, October 9, 1869.

Molia JW. "Hunahuna Mea Hou o Howlands." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, October 22, 1870.

Molia JW. "Na mea Hou o Jarvis Island." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, September 30, 1871.

Molia JW. "Na mea hou o Jarvis Isl. (Paukeaho)." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 24, 1871.

Molia JW. "Nu Hou Kuloko: He Nuhou!!" *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, May 13, 1871.

Molia JW. "Nu Hou ma Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, November 9, 1867.

Molia JW. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Untitled." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, October 29, 1870.

Molia JW. "Nuhou! Nuhou!" Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, June 26, 1869.

Molia JW., et al. "Ka make ana o George Kukuiehu." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 6, 1871.

Niauhoe JWM. "Aloha kuu aikane." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, November 22, 1873.

Niauhoe JWM. "Na Mea Hou o Baker's Island." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, November 1, 1873.

Niauhoe JW. Molia. "Na Mea Hou o Haulani Ailana (Ulukou)." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, May 1, 1875.

Nupepa Puka La Kuokoa. "Nou Hou Hawaii." February 14, 1893.

Nupepa Puka La Kuokoa. "Ka Paulo numana Huakai." February 20, 1893.

Puheekai J. "Mea hou o Puakailima." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, September 11, 1869.

Puheekai J. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Ahuwale Hou Na Iwi o Hua I Ka La." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, July 22, 1871.

Puheekai J. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Huli Hoi Ana I Honolulu." *Ka Nupepa Kuokoa*, December 23, 1871.

Puheekai J. "Na mea hou o Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, January 1, 1870.

Puheekai J. "No Puakailima." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, October 8, 1870.

Puheekai J. "Nu Hou Kuloko: Makk Emoole." Ka Nupepa Kuokoa, May 25, 1867.